
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Housing Committee 

Date Thursday 13 June 2019 

Time 2.00 pm 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Tom Copley AM (Chair) 
Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair) 
Sian Berry AM 
Leonie Cooper AM 

Tony Devenish AM 
Nicky Gavron AM 
David Kurten AM 
 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 5 June 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Jonathan Baker, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7084 2825;  
Email: jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
For media enquiries please contact Funmi Olutoye; Telephone: 020 7983 7983; 
Email: funmi.olutoye@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact 
the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Housing Committee 
Thursday 13 June 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Jonathan Baker, jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk, 020 7084 2825 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Standing Delegation  
 
 The Committee is asked to note the following standing delegation of authority to 

the Chair of the Committee, which is subject to agreement by the London Assembly 
at its Plenary Meeting on 6 June 2019: 

To delegate authority to Chairs of ordinary committees, sub-committees and 
working groups to agree, in consultation with the relevant party Group Lead 
Members and Deputy Chairs: 

(a) The detailed terms of reference for any investigation to be undertaken by the 
relevant committee, sub-committee or working group within its work 
programme as agreed by the GLA Oversight Committee, and any related 
project plans and arrangements for related site visits or informal meetings; 
and 

 

mailto:jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

(b) The topic and scope for any additional projects to be added to its work 
programme, where it is not practicable to secure prior approval from the 
GLA Oversight Committee and subject also to subsequent ratification by the 
GLA Oversight Committee. 

 
 

4 Minutes (Pages 5 - 34) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 8 May 2019 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

 The appendix to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 24 is attached for Members and officers 

only but is available from the following area of the Greater London Authority’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing  
 
 

5 Summary List of Actions (Pages 35 - 42) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Jonathan Baker, jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk, 020 7084 2825 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from its previous meetings. 
 
 

6 Action Taken under Delegated Authority (Pages 43 - 84) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Jonathan Baker, jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk, 020 7084 2825 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the recent action taken by, Tom Copley AM, 

the Chair under delegated authority, namely to agree the Committee’s report Living 

in Limbo: London’s Temporary Accommodation Crisis, in consultation with party 

Group Lead Members, attached at Appendix 1 and note the report. 
 

 The appendix to the report set out on pages 45 to 84 is attached for Members and officers only 

but is available from the following area of the Greater London Authority’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing
mailto:jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk
mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing


 

5 
 

7 Affordable Housing Delivery Update (Pages 85 - 88) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Lorraine Ford, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4394 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Agree the areas for consideration set out in paragraph 4.6 of the report.  

 

(b) Note the report as background to putting questions to the invited guests on 

affordable housing delivery in London and the subsequent discussion. 

 

(c) Delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree any output from the discussion. 
 
 

8 Housing Committee Work Programme (Pages 89 - 92) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Lorraine Ford, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4394 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the Housing Committee Work Programme. 
 
 

9 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 2 July 2019 at 10.00 am in Committee 

Room 5, City Hall. 
 
 

10 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:lorraine.ford@london.gov.uk
mailto:crutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 13 June 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Jonathan Baker, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7084 2825 

E-mail: jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Housing Committee 
Date: Wednesday 8 May 2019 
Time: 2.00 pm 
Place: Committee Room 5, City Hall, The 

Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing 

 

 
Present: 
 
Tom Copley AM (Chair) 
Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair) 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
Sian Berry AM 
Leonie Cooper AM 
Tony Devenish AM 
David Kurten AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Nicky Gavron AM, for whom Jennette Arnold OBE 

AM substituted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing


Greater London Authority 
Housing Committee 

Wednesday 8 May 2019 

 

 
 

 

 
   Matters arising from the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly on  

2 May 2019 - Membership of the Committee, Terms of Reference and 
Standing Delegation (Item 1a) 

 

1.2  Resolved 

 
(a) That the membership and chairing arrangements for the Housing Committee 

as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly on 2 May 2019 be 
noted as follows: 

 
Tom Copley AM (Chair) 
Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair) 
Sian Berry AM 
Léonie Cooper AM 
Tony Devenish AM 
Nicky Gavron AM 
David Kurten AM 

 
(b) That the terms of reference, as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London 

Assembly on 2 May 2019, as set out in Supplementary Agenda 1a for the 
meeting be noted.  

 
(c) That the following standing delegation of authority to the Chair of the 

Committee as agreed by the London Assembly at its Annual Meeting on  
2 May 2019 and as set out below, be noted: 

 
To respond on the Committee’s behalf, following consultation with the lead 
Members of the party Groups on the committee or sub-committee, where it 
is consulted on issues by organisations and there is insufficient time to 
consider the consultation at a committee meeting.  

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Housing Committee 

Wednesday 8 May 2019 

 

 
 

 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 26 March 2019 and 2 April 2019 be signed 

by the Chair as a correct record. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 

That the outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the Committee be 

noted. 

 
 
5   Action Taken under Delegated Authority (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 

 

 That the action taken by Sian Berry AM, the Chair of the Housing Committee during 

the 2018/19 Assembly year, under delegated authority, following consultation with 

the party Group Lead Members, namely to agree the Committee’s response to a call 

for evidence from the Affordable Housing Commission, be noted.  

 
 
6   Help to Buy in London (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on Help to Buy in London to the following invited guests: 

 Henry Pryor, buying agent and market commentator; 

 Professor Yolande Barnes, Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, University College 

London (UCL); and  

 Daniel Tomlinson, Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation. 

 

6.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Housing Committee 

Wednesday 8 May 2019 

 

 
 

 

6.3 During the course of the discussion, the Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute UCL, 

undertook to provide figures on property transaction levels for new build in London 

compared to existing stock. 

 

6.4 During the course of the discussion, the Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution 

Foundation, undertook to provide a copy of a report which contained evidence of price 

bunching for new build properties at the limit of the Help to Buy Equity Loan of £600,000. 
 

6.5 The Chair suggested writing to those housebuilders invited to the Committee meeting to 

request written evidence regarding the Help to Buy Equity Loan Scheme. 

 

6.6 Resolved:  

 

(a) That the areas for consideration as set out in paragraph 4.8 of the report be 

agreed and that the report and discussion be noted. 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output from the discussion. 

 
 
7   Housing Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the remainder of the Committee’s meeting dates in the 2019/20 

Assembly year, as set out in paragraph 4.2 be noted.  

 

(b) That it be noted that the topic for the Housing Committee meeting on 13 

June 2019 will be a review of the Affordable Housing Monitor, as agreed as 

the meeting of the GLA Oversight Committee on 8 April 2019. 

 

(c) That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with 

party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for the 

Committee’s review of the Affordable Housing Monitor on 13 June 2019. 

 
 
8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Thursday, 13 June 2019 at 2.00 pm in 

Committee Room 5, City Hall. 

 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Housing Committee 

Wednesday 8 May 2019 

 

 
 

 

 
9   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 

9.1 There were no items of business that the Chair considered to be urgent. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting  

 

10.1 The meeting ended at 3.29 pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Jonathan Baker, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7084 2825;  

Email: jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Housing Committee – Wednesday, 8 May 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 6 – Help to Buy in London 
 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  That brings us on to today’s main item which is on the Help to Buy Equity Loan 

Scheme in London.  I welcome our guests; Henry Pryor who is a Buying Agent and Market Commentator; 

Professor Yolande Barnes, Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute at University College London (UCL) and 

Daniel Tomlinson, Research and Policy Analyst at The Resolution Foundation.  Thank you all very much for 

being here today.   

 

I am going to kick off with a few initial questions.  First of all, if I could ask Henry - I know, Henry, you have 

been quite outspoken on the Help to Buy Scheme - can you briefly outline the original rationale for 

introducing the Help to Buy programme? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Good afternoon, everybody.  I am not entirely 

confident this is the official line but my understanding of the rationale behind Help to Buy was that it was an 

initiative brought in by central Government as a way of giving confidence to mortgage lenders, banks and 

lending institutions, to get back out and lend money after the credit crisis/crunch - call it what you will - of 

2007/08.  It is a policy that perhaps gave lenders the optimism to overcome their, at the time understandable, 

reservations about the direction of house prices in certainly the short term and their - again, in my opinion 

understandable - desire to minimise their exposure and risk.  At the time they were keen, for the reasons I have 

just explained, to insist upon new borrowers putting up significant deposits in order to ensure that if prices 

were to fall they, the lenders were protected.  This additional requirement - usually 20%, sometimes more - 

was a massive impediment, particularly to those trying to get onto the lower rungs of the housing ladder where 

saving for a deposit was already taking the best part of a lifetime and was clearly going to be impossible for an 

awful lot of people without some kind of intervention.   

 

The Government’s, I think on balance, sensible plan - a plan that perhaps remarkably worked - was that in the 

first iterative of Help to Buy - there were several different flavours that came along, Equity Loan and Mortgage 

Guarantee being the two principal ones - it was going to stand behind the borrower by underwriting or 

providing part of that deposit in order for lenders then to be comfortable their exposure was still only going to 

be, for the sake of argument, 80%.  As I say, a policy that I think worked at the time and even with hindsight 

was a good idea but - as you may or may not discover, depending on how forensic your questioning becomes - 

is not something that I necessarily agree should have been, or indeed should still be, maintained. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  My colleagues will be coming onto that in more detail as we go through the 

session, thank you. 

 

Yolande, do you want to add anything to that? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Just to emphasise its 

novelty on introduction of actually addressing the equity gap rather than subsidising mortgage borrowing per 

se and I think recognising the barrier to home ownership for a lot of people was not being able to afford 

mortgage repayments but being able to raise the equity, as Henry just described. 

 

Page 11



 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Why did the Government double the percentage loan available in 

London in 2016 and what difference did that make to London take up? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  As I understand it, the 

take up in London was actually low because the value limits were too low and the further change for 2021 of 

regionalising the values is probably a good move in this respect.  Take up in London in the early years was 

notably lower than in other regions. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  In terms of your view on the Scheme as introduced and the Scheme now, do you 

concur with Henry or do you take a different view? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Like many interventions, I 

think it is questionable whether it achieved its aims and some of the judgement on that has to be with what 

you understand its aims to be.  Certainly, like most interventions, it probably has had unintended 

consequences or unexpected consequences that I think are important to look at.  Some people do refer to it as 

‘help to build’ rather than ‘help to buy’ because its focus on new-build properties has had, I think, a distorting 

effect that bears some examination. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  We will be coming on to some of those potential unintended consequences as we 

go through the meeting. 

 

Daniel, do you want to comment on what you have heard? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  Just to add that I have a 

different perspective.  Henry is totally right and I totally agree that part of the rationale was to encourage 

confidence in terms of lenders.  However - this is what Yolande was talking about as well, I guess - I think 

supporting house building and encouraging building was part of the rationale.  Even though it was framed in a 

way of supporting people to get on the housing ladder, I think supply was probably an element underneath it 

too.  I did a bit of digging and the New Labour scheme that was called Home Buy Direct, which came out in 

2008, was much more explicitly about supporting house building, increasing supply itself.  There are supply 

side impacts to the policy and demand side ones as well, which we will get to I imagine. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Excellent, thank you very much.   

 

David Kurten AM:  I want to ask you about the impacts of Help to Buy on the housing market specifically in 

London.  I will start with you, Yolande, if I can.  Do you think we actually needed Help to Buy in London when 

it was started in 2013? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  You could say the equity 

gap, as it were, was probably largest in London.  Did you need a scheme to help people who found the housing 

market inaccessible due to not being able to raise the equity?  Probably I would say it was needed more in 

London than elsewhere simply because of the size of the sums involved.  However, it is worth concentrating on 

where the real affordability need lies in London.  It is quite demonstrable that most of the demand and most 

unmet demand is in the sub-£450 per square foot area of value.  I cannot remember the average rate per 

square foot but certainly in the more central areas of London most of what is being built is over £750 per 

square foot.  There is a mismatch between what is being supplied and therefore what is being helped in this 

area.  There is the theory and then there is the practice.  The fact it was aimed at an area of supply that was 

very expensive in and of itself and did not reflect the whole market, what is available throughout the whole of 

London, I think immediately started to distort how it was targeted and how it was used.  In theory, yes, doing 

Page 12



 

 

the right thing in addressing the equity gap; in practise too focused on a niche market, if you like, and not 

addressing the broader issue. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thinking about the number of homes that have been built, is there any evidence or 

figures for how many homes would not have been built if there was not a Help to Buy Scheme? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Nationally it appears to 

have potentially doubled the rate of building.  Before the Scheme I think roughly one in 11 transactions were 

new-build properties and I think that has pretty much halved now to about one in five1.  Whether that is a 

temporary effect, how much it has to do with other factors and indeed the very low levels of transactions 

generally - you have to take that against a quite significant fall post 2008 in the numbers of properties being 

transacted - it would appear that new build at a national level constitutes a higher proportion of sales now 

than it used to.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Is it the doubling of the proportion of new builds in 2013-2018 that you are talking 

about? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Yes, if you take new 

builds as a ratio of second-hand stock for all transactions it seems to have risen at a national level, I have not 

looked at London specifically.  The expectation would be that it probably has increased new supply over and 

above what it would otherwise have been. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Those are national figures, what about London specifically?   

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  As I say, I do not have 

figures on London. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Are you able to send the figures to us afterwards perhaps, if you do not have them to 

hand?  Sorry to come in on your question, David.  Obviously, it is very interesting to hear about the national 

figures, which you clearly do have at your fingertips, but we are the London Assembly and certainly I, and I am 

sure others, will be interested to know if there has been a difference from one in 11 to one in five -- 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  I will certainly see if I can 

drill down on that. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Really helpful.  Thank you, Yolande. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  That will be very helpful, thank you very much.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Thanks.  The one in 11 to one in five, would you say that is all directly due to the Help to 

Buy Scheme or are there a variety of factors? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  It is impossible to say for 

sure.  Obviously that time period coincides with the Help to Buy Scheme but, of course, what you have at the 

same time is this significant drop in the number of second-hand transactions.  Having said that, we are talking 

about a decade-long trend for the one in 11.  At a national level new-build property only ever seemed to 

reflect the overall market rather than create a new market so roughly one in ten or one in 11 transactions - no 

                                                 
1 Professor Yolande Barnes later corrected this statistic on page 24, from one in 11 transactions to one in nine.   

Page 13



 

 

matter what level transactions were at - would be new build.  Henry [Pryor] will probably have something to 

say on this but whether other factors like stamp duty and indeed the recession, the credit crunch and so forth - 

also had an effect; it is difficult to say for sure, but there must have been some impact from Help to Buy there. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I know you [Henry Pryor] want to come in but I have another question on that.  Talking 

about changing from one in 11 to one in five - which is a proportion so it is going up from about 9% to 20% of 

the market - is there that significant change in the absolute numbers?  The numbers of new-build houses, has 

that changed significantly or not?  Has that doubled? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Supply waxes and wanes 

but, yes, supply has been rising at a national level since 2013. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Has it doubled?  Has it gone up by the same amount in terms of proportion of the total 

market? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  It might have done. 

 

Tony Devenish AM:  It has nearly doubled. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Yes; 275,000, I think was 

the latest. 

 

David Kurten AM:  That is great, so there is some correlation there, thanks.  Henry, what were you going to 

say? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  I was going to add in, for the Committee’s 

benefit, that you may not be aware that there was a time when one particular flavour of Help to Buy was also 

available for second-hand homes.  Therefore the data - that understandably, quite rightly, you love to get your 

hands on and, quite rightly, are asking us to produce - is not as readily available and as transparent as it ought 

to be because there is this muddle.  It is probably quite helpful to your professional colleagues across the river 

that there is a bit of confusion in it but it is not very easy for us, or anybody, to be able to provide definitive 

figures on London.   

 

I would add, your question - cunningly put, if I may say - talks about whether it is possible to identify what 

would not have been built had it not been for Help to Buy, which is not a metric one can readily compute.  

What day previous to today might I have died if I was dead today?  Therefore, it is important to understand 

that we can talk about the positive numbers as opposed to the invisible numbers, if you will, of what would 

have happened if something had not been available. 

 

Finally, you will be pleased to hear, I would also add that in my opinion - again something over which there is 

debate - housebuilders would have continued to build properties.  My fundamental complaint about Help to 

Buy is that there are two options when it comes to dealing with high house prices, something that is not 

necessarily the same as unaffordable house prices.  You can either leave the market to adjust to the level that 

people can afford in order for transactions to continue or you can intervene and support - for example, by 

pushing down on rents or pushing up on deposits, interfering in a proactive way - but that does distort the 

market.  At some point, when you cease that interference, the market will inevitably correct itself and the 

pendulum will swing back.  Be careful what you wish for, I think is what I am saying.   

 

Page 14



 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  To come in on that 

point, one of the interesting things in the data is that the increase in housing supply starts around the same 

time as Help to Buy was announced nationally in April 2013, but it actually starts just before.  I think you can 

see an uptick in the trough in the amount of building in the quarter before Help to Buy was implemented.  You 

can see that housebuilders and developers were beginning to build more.  The shock of the crisis, the 

retrenchment in terms of their activities and the big plummet that happened in terms of, in particular, young 

people’s incomes after the crisis was beginning to wear off - only beginning to - back in 2013, but you can see 

there was an uptick beforehand.  That goes to the point Henry was making, it is very difficult to identify that 

counterfactual.  The Government did a quite thorough report on the impact of Help to Buy nationally and 

asked developers, “How much additional has your supply been because of Help to Buy?”  The number the 

Government cites in its report is about a fifth from developers, about a fifth more.  That gets at this difference 

between the 50% Yolande was talking about and the 20% that came from -- 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Specifically on that point, I checked with the 

Home Builders Federation before coming here and it would confirm that number for London as well as 

nationally, whether that is correct or not that is their view. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Supply? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  A fifth, this figure of 20%, applies in London 

apparently as well as nationally. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  Of course a developer 

that might be benefitting from Help to Buy has an incentive to say it is having more of an effect than it might 

be.  We do not know exactly and we cannot know because it is the counterfactual. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Indeed, thanks.  I am going to move back to you, Henry, again and ask about new-build 

houses in London specifically.  Is there any evidence that Help to Buy has inflated the prices of new-build 

homes in London? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  The word I struggle with is “evidence”.  There 

appear to be numbers that seem to suggest that exactly that has occurred.  Equally - as with most legal 

debates and arguments in a pub - there are different opinions depending on where you start from and 

particularly amongst the housebuilding fraternity there are those who suggest that is not the case at all.   

 

My own view and my own opinion is that it has added to the cost of new-build homes.  It has added to the 

percentage that goes on top of a shiny new home over and above its second-hand value.  When you buy a 

new-build home there is a new-build premium that is acknowledged even by the housebuilding fraternity 

because, quite reasonably, you are buying a brand new product, it is like buying a new car.  Someone has gone 

to the trouble of planning it, designing it, getting the relevant consents, getting all the testing dealt with and 

they deliver it to you.  Therefore, you should expect to have to pay perhaps a premium for the privilege of 

buying something that is bright, shiny and new.  As with new cars, I think there is a strong argument that the 

morning you wake up after your first night in the property it is worth less.   

 

The new-build sector desperately wants to commoditise property.  As the Professor [Yolande Barnes] has said, 

they talk about houses per square foot or per square metre and, unbelievably, in parts of London per cubic 

metre, would you believe.  New-build housing perhaps is slightly excused in my opinion from this desire to 

want to price things per square foot because it has business involved in it and underpinning it, and has 

financial scribblers across the river writing notes to support the building and sales of this product.  It does not 

Page 15



 

 

take into account the emotional element of value that I principally deal with in the second-hand market that - 

rather like fine art or pictures - is the value of the view from the window, for example, the proximity to your 

friends or the proximity of positives or negatives perhaps near the property itself.  These are things I would 

contend all support the fact that Help to Buy - while I should stress again is something that I think was a force 

for good and ironically a great idea at the time - outstayed its welcome for far too long, it did distort and 

continues to distort the market.  Most importantly and particularly in London I suspect when it ends and is 

withdrawn the fallout will be painful for those who are least able to afford it and there will be a significant 

impact on people such as your good selves.   

 

David Kurten AM:  I was talking about new builds but then you widened that to talk about the wider housing 

market.  What effect do you think it has had on the price of homes in the wider market, has it had a significant 

effect? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  There will have been some wash on, I have never 

seen figures quantifying exactly what that is.  I could, as an estate agent, convince you I know the answer to 

this but I do not.  The answer on the new-build sector is that if you buy a new-build property today with the 

benefit of Help to Buy in five years’ time, unless it is replaced, that benefit will not be available to your 

successor, the person you want to sell that property to.  Without that they will not be able to afford to borrow 

as much money as economically as you can today.  As a result I think you will end up having to nurse 

potentially not just a theoretical but a practical loss, one that could be very painful for a lot of people to deal 

with. 

 

David Kurten AM:  How about the distribution of Help to Buy -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Sorry, David, this is on the point about pricing if I can just interject for a moment.  

I was interested in the impact of the £600,000 cap, does that mean a lot of homes are being rounded up to 

£599,999?  You might build a home yourself for £570,000 but -- 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  It is a super question but we do not have any 

evidence.  There is no way of measuring it because I do not have formal links with housebuilders who will 

formally confirm that is going on.  However, human nature being what it is, I very much fear that is exactly the 

case.  As the market has stiffened, as it has become harder to shift these units that have been planned and 

constructed over many years to bring them to market today, housebuilders and developers, their agents and 

funders, are all trying to desperately find ways of attracting sales that come in at the threshold or just below.  I 

suspect including things that perhaps they should not be including in those deals - stamp duty payments, 

moving expenses, decoration and furnishing, all these sorts of sweeteners to encourage people to take the 

product - is going on but I am afraid that may, as far as the Committee is concerned, be a reflection of my 

rather jaundiced nature and deep suspicion of human nature.   

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  One way of answering 

that question is to look at what the new-build premium is over and above second-hand stock in the same 

location.  The thing about the new-build premium is that nobody publishes any figures on it.  The little work I 

have done in the past suggests it does fluctuate significantly according to market conditions.  If you have a 

low-demand and high-supply market you will have a much lower new-build premium or even a new-build 

discount.  In the early 1990s you had a new-build discount where new-build properties were oversupplied 

relative to demand and therefore were selling at a discount to second-hand stock, it has been a long time since 

London has seen that.  The sheer size of the new-build premium, if you were to look specifically at a 

neighbourhood level, would give you some indication of the effect this Scheme might at least in part be 

having.   

Page 16



 

 

 

There are reasons why over the last few years the new-build premium should have been shrinking - not 

disappearing but shrinking - in size, not least because of fuller supply.  However, the signs are it has not been 

and I am afraid at the moment that is anecdotal and could do with some more research.  That, to me, would 

seem to indicate this has had an inflationary effect in the new-build sector over and above the second-hand 

stock, which of course it does not have an impact on. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Surely there will be a long-term impact then for the purchaser.  If they have 

overpaid for a property then that could seriously disadvantage them over the longer term? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Yes.  The new-build 

premium is potentially a problem anyway because, as Henry said, it starts depreciating from day one.  In the 

past we have had very high levels of capital growth that have hidden that depreciation effect.  People have 

been able to buy a newly-built property and effectively write off against their capital gains the depreciation of 

that new-build premium.  I am not sure that is going to happen in future.  I think, in common with a lot of 

global cities, we have probably reached what I would call a ‘high plateau’ where prices are expensive, they are 

high, but they are not rising as rapidly as they used to.  That is going to start to reveal all sorts of issues.  

Depreciation, full stop, is one of them.  Obsolescence may be another, we have to consider whether what has 

been supplied is the right stock for the longer term or whether it just responded to a particular moment in time 

distorted by a different sort of demand, partly a result of Help to Buy.   

 

The other thing we are going to start noticing is the ongoing running cost of buildings that people have not 

really considered before.  Service charges have been something that was just a cost of making a lot of money 

from your property in London.  It is very possible - especially for some types of building that are particularly 

expensive to run, the sort of thing we have been building over the last decade or so - you are going to really 

start to notice those service charges.  That is going to put additional affordability pressures on the population 

that perhaps in the past they have not noticed so much. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  We will be hopefully looking at service charges later in the [Assembly] year 

[2019/20] so we might have to get you back for that.   

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  I should have kept quiet. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Before I hand back to Assembly Member Kurten, Daniel, do you want to comment 

on any of this? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  Yes, a few things have 

come to mind while that interesting session was going on.  The first is that there is a little bit of evidence 

around bunching at £600,000 in London.  I think it is relatively small but if you look at the distribution of 

prices you can see a relative reduction in the number of homes sold at just under £600,000 and a little spike at 

£600,000, which you would expect given that is the maximum for the Scheme.   

 

In terms of house prices increasing, if you bought your Help to Buy property you experienced the big capital 

gain - house prices went up by 10% in 2013 and 2014 - so therefore I am not too worried about people who 

have already bought if there is going to be a problem down the line, as some of you might be worried about.  

There is a question about people who are going to continue to buy between now and when the Scheme ends 

in its current form in 2021 and then in its somewhat diminished form - not in London - in 2023, if house prices 

are about to plateau or even are falling right now in London.  There could be more problems there.  We will get 

on to this later but the extent to which the Scheme is tapered away is, of course, really relevant to what 

Page 17



 

 

happens to the market and to individuals.  The Government has already announced a two-year tapering.  That 

does not affect London, it might announce something different or change its policies.   

 

The bigger overall thing, which is definitely worth thinking about and reflecting on, is that, yes, Help to Buy 

might have an inflationary effect on house prices and mean that people are overpaying for a home but there is 

also strong evidence - which is also common sense, in a way - that people who are using Help to Buy are 

buying bigger and maybe better homes and homes in better locations than they otherwise would have done.  

Therefore, it is not exactly like with like.  They might be stretching themselves to get a better home that Help 

to Buy helps them get, a home that has more bedrooms or that is in a better location.  People coming along in 

ten years’ time to buy that house without Help to Buy are not necessarily going to be the 22 year old first-time 

buyers that the people who bought it were ten years ago, if you know what I am saying, they might be people 

who are further along who already have a child, for example.  People have stretched to get better properties 

and this is a whole thing we can discuss in terms of whether or not the policy is as efficient as it could be 

because people would have bought anyway. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  We will be coming on to that. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  Exactly. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Can I ask if you could write to us with that data you referred to earlier, about the 

£600,000 and the bunching and things like that, or if you know where it is available if you could point us to it? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  I can send you the 

report. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Apart from that pricing 

bunching - again I do not know of any specific research done on this - you would expect to find a supply 

response in terms of size of properties built as well.  If you could build five 1,200 square foot homes or ten 

600 square foot homes at a £1,000 per square foot value, you are more likely to build more of the smaller ones 

than fewer of the larger ones.  Therefore, it has the potential to skew the market in terms of the size built as 

well as the pricing points built to, they are two sides of the same coin. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Sorry, just because I am a bit thick, why are you more likely to build the 

smaller ones? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Because you are 

potentially twice as likely to sell into the £600,000 market than you are into the £1.2 million market. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  They are more profitable, possibly. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  If the costs are the same 

per square foot then it would just be the sales rates, so ultimately more profitable. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  I have no idea how much data you all have.  I 

happen to have the London Help to Buy numbers, which I can give you very briefly, if you do not have already 

have them. 

 

Page 18



 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Yes, please. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  In the year to 31 December [2018] home 

purchases under Help to Buy in London totalled 5,643, up 26% from 2017. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  We have this, I think, but thank you, Henry. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I will pick up on that point, Henry, if I could.  You talked about the number of Help to 

Buy homes in London.  How are they distributed around London, is there an even or uneven distribution? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  It is not evenly distributed.  There are some 

helpful numbers that I can supply to you, if that would be helpful.  Greenwich, Barnet, Lewisham, Havering, 

Hillingdon and Tower Hamlets are the boroughs in which the Scheme has been most used to date.  The table I 

can supply to you is when the 40% equity loan in London came into effect in February 2016, 

1,500 completions in the last quarter of last year [2018/19] is the largest number of any quarter and it still 

only totalled nearly 17,000 loans out of London’s housing stock.  To give you an example, as Yolande referred 

earlier on, before the credit crunch sales in London were peaking at 16,000 - 20,000 a month.  Is that correct, 

happy with that? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Sounds right. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  The average over the last 20 years is that about 

10,000 homes are sold, old and new, every month according to the Office for National Statistics.  Currently, we 

are down about 30% last month, so far about 7,000 properties were transacted.   

 

One of the things you must please bear in mind as far as I am concerned is that a lot of the new builds, 

therefore the implications of Help to Buy on new-build volumes and the type of new build that was produced, 

will also I think have been probably much more greatly impacted by perceived demand.  London as a 

destination of choice for overseas buyers, for example, will have had a much greater impact on what 

housebuilders chose to build.  Our memories are short, we may have forgotten that was something that was ‘a 

thing’ three or four years ago.  Help to Buy is much more relevant to housebuilders today because that interest 

and that demand has withered.   

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  There is considerable 

variation in take up between boroughs, particularly first-time buyer take up.  There are differences not only 

between boroughs but also between first-time buyers and home movers, [The London Borough of] Hackney 

had a large proportion I think of first-time buyers and [the London Borough of] Islington much lower.  There 

may be an age relationship, the equity-gap problem tending to affect younger purchasers more than older 

ones, generally speaking.  Therefore, there are some important demographic and locational differences. 

 

David Kurten AM:  What about the split between houses and flats, how does that work out with Help to Buy 

and is it in line with the general market? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  No, there must be a 

higher proportion of flats because the new-build market is a much higher proportion of flats.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you for your answers. 

 

Page 19



 

 

Sian Berry AM:  The home buyers as opposed to the housebuilders, a few questions about how it works.  In 

terms of who is eligible, is it limited to first-time buyers?  Do people have to live in the homes they are buying?  

Are they allowed to own another property when they do it?  Who are they, which kinds of Londoners are 

buying these homes?  I am not sure who the best person to ask will be, Daniel maybe in terms of profiling? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  I can certainly kick off.  

Overall, in terms of the Scheme itself, you do not have to be a first-time buyer.  You do not have to live in the 

home when you buy it.  Anyone is eligible to take up Help to Buy loans.  If you are not a first-time buyer then 

you have to be moving, you cannot use it to get a second property as far as I am aware.  The limit is £600,000 

in London, so you cannot use it to buy a property for more than £600,000.  The minimum deposit you have to 

cobble together is 5% and then the maximum the Government will loan is 40%.  You could cobble together a 

bigger deposit and the Government could still give 40%, is that right or does it cap itself at 45%?  I am not 

quite sure. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  It will only give you 40% -- 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  It will only give you 40% 

of the bank -- 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  It will only give you 

40% but -- 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  The ceiling has to be £600,000. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  In theory I think you 

could get together a deposit of 60% - you would not do this, no one exists who does this - and get a Help to 

Buy equity loan on the other 40% and not even take out a mortgage.  I think you could but no one would do 

that so that is a bit by the by.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  Are you sure nobody has ever done that? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  I do not know why you 

would.  Anyway, that is a bit of background.   

 

The thinking behind it, if you think of it in those terms, is it basically helps you get a bigger deposit together.  

If you only have 5% you do not get 95% from the lender; you can get less than that, you can get 55% with the 

Government putting in 40%.  That is the whole point, to help get over that big deposit barrier. 

 

In terms of who is benefitting from Help to Buy in London, annoyingly the data the Government collects is 

mainly national.  We know across the country as a whole 10% of people who bought a house under Help to 

Buy had household income that was greater than £80,000 a year, which is quite high, and across England as a 

whole 20% are non-first-time buyers.  However, we know that 95% of the people in London who use Help to 

Buy are first-time buyers so it is an overwhelmingly first-time buyer thing in London.  We also have statistics, 

going back to when the Scheme was announced in 2013, so we can see what size loan they got.  Seven in ten 

people who use Help to Buy in London are getting a loan of 40%, going up to the maximum.  It is those 

people who are really taking advantage of the Scheme, not just using the minimum amount.  In general, across 

the United Kingdom (UK) as a whole - to give you what I was saying in another way - 10% of people who have 

used the Scheme have incomes over £80,000.  I had a look to see how the income distribution of people who 

use Help to Buy compares to the income distribution as a whole across the country, the statistic uncovered is 

Page 20



 

 

that a quarter of those who have taken Help to Buy loans have household incomes above £60,000, which 

compares with one in ten of all households aged under 40, I limited it to that.  You can see it is a Scheme that 

is skewed towards people who are high earning and that is the same in London as well.  I do not know if you 

have access to any of these but we do not know whether it is men or women or how old the people are who 

are using the Scheme.  We know, for example, there are only two in Kensington and Chelsea who have used it 

over the whole time, we know what they paid for their property and what their income is but that is about as 

much as we can do on the data that we have. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is really useful. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  It is worth pointing out 

that from 2021 it will be first-time buyers only. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  It will be limited to first-time buyers.  Is that based on evidence that it was going towards 

people who were not a bit too often? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  I would not dare second 

guess why policy has changed. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  There is probably 

thinking out there, if you talk to the public, even though it is a loan - so it is not adding to the deficit as in the 

Government should get it back depending on what happens - the Government should not be spending money 

to help people who already have houses.  I think that is just a view people would hold and that seems quite 

sensible. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  What you said about people who need to be moving to qualify if they are buying a home and 

they already own a home, are there any checks they do not own another home; you are moving your residence 

but have other homes that are not your residence?  Are those people allowed to benefit?  It is a subsidy, is it 

not? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  I do not think they are, 

no.  You are not allowed to use it if you already own a second home and you are not allowed to use it to go 

and get a second home. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Right, OK.  That is really useful to know, thank you.   

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Did the Government ever state the rationale for not limiting it to first-time buyers 

and should it have limited it to first-time buyers? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  In my view no, it should 

not.  The biggest impact of the global financial crisis was to lower transactions, as I described earlier, across the 

board.  Transaction levels have recovered most in the first-time-buyer sector, they still remain at historic lows 

for the ‘second steppers’ as you might call them.  It is more difficult to trade up the market than it is to get on 

the bottom rungs of the ladder, as you might say.  The signs are, even now, it is those ‘second steppers’ who 

need more help to trade up to the family house or whatever it is.  This is another unforeseen or unmonitored 

consequence, people might end up stuck in a certain type of property that is not adequate for their needs or 

appropriate for what they need going forward.  In my view there is a case for helping those people who are 

stuck, unable to raise the deposit to trade up to their next move. 

 

Page 21



 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  If one was being cynical, obviously none of us are, helping people in that second stage 

would also be quite likely to increase the amount of stamp duty that might be accruing to the Government. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  It possibly would.  I 

noticed in the latest figures for migration out of London that there is net out migration in every age group 

now, even the younger age groups.  My reading of that is affordability and housing issues are pushing people 

out.  What is happening is they are buying the home they need in another, interestingly, urban, usually small 

city elsewhere, either in the South East or even further afield.  It is not -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  That is pretty obvious.  It is an obvious consequence because this is basically a demand 

side measure rather than a supply side measure, is it not? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Yes, but if it is designed 

to help people who are unable to access the homes they need in London you could argue it is not working 

because there comes a point in their lifecycle where they need a home that does not exist or cannot be 

provided for within the Scheme. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  That is if you accept the premise that it is there to help people access a home. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, exactly, because there are other things we could spend this large amount of money on 

potentially to give people access to homes to live in but we are not here to discuss that. 

 

I wanted to go back to the people and what they are paying rather than market questions.  I think what you 

have said so far is that people are getting together 5% as a deposit, they are generally borrowing under the 

Help to Buy Scheme 40% and then they are getting a mortgage for the other 55%.  I think you said those 

people are stretching themselves to buy bigger and better homes.  Presumably, they are borrowing up to their 

borrowing limit as well with that 55%, they are not borrowing less than they can afford to repay, if that makes 

sense.  Overall, how are the costs comparing with say private renting if you include mortgage repayments, 

which are as much as people can probably afford, plus starting last year [2018] people are having to pay 

charges on the equity loan? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  My first guess would be 

that the cost of living in a Help-to-Buy home will be pretty much the same as the cost of living in any other 

home that you bought, which we know is lower than the cost of renting and that is mainly because at the 

moment interest rates are so low.  If you go back to the 1970s there were really high interest rates.  People 

could cobble together the deposit really easily, they own their own home but then they had really high  

day-to-day housing costs because interest rates were so high.  People often think about the ‘Baby Boomers’ 

doing really well out of the housing market, which is true, but there was this time in the 1970s when people 

who had bought their homes really struggled to pay back their interest on a day-to-day basis.  That is all gone 

now.  For people who manage to get over that massive deposit hurdle, which is really big in London relative to 

income and earnings, their day-to-day housing costs are quite low.  As you were saying, for the first five years 

for someone who is in a Help to Buy bought property they are going to have really quite low housing costs 

because they are not paying anything.  Is it £120 for the fee each year, something like that?  There is a small 

fee that you have to pay and that is it, it is five years interest free.  Then they have this ratcheting-up interest 

rate for years after that, which we might discuss, which could be a problem if you stay in the home for a long 

time. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  This is what this question is about so go into detail on that if you like. 

 

Page 22



 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  The specific way it 

works is that you have five years where you do not have any interest rate on the loan the Government has 

given you in effect.  In the first year it charges you 1.75%, which is quite low and that is probably lower than 

interest rates people are paying on mortgages at the moment, unless you have a really short-term fixed term 

for the first two years or something.  In Year 7 you are charged 1.75% times whatever the rate of Retail Price 

Index inflation is.  That is all a bit confusing, it is a really odd way of doing it. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  It almost sounds like times three. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  It would be times 1.03, 

for example.  

 

Sian Berry AM:  It is increased by that percentage. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  Yes.  It might go up, for 

example, from 1.75% to 1.83% to 1.89% but it is going up and up and up and it is going up with inflation 

rather than other metrics that you do link your mortgage to like interest rates.  It is this odd thing.  I do not 

think they call it an interest rate, I think they call it a payment or something like that, a charge.  They are 

probably going to be surprising people across the country now, particularly in London.  The higher loan of 40% 

came in in 2016 so it is not until 2021 that the Londoners, mainly in outer London, who got their Help to Buy 

properties are going to suddenly have a bit more to pay and it is quite a bit more.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  Can I have some numbers?  If you had a mortgage that was 55% of £600,000 at current 

interest rates roughly what would you be paying a month?  I am a private renter, so I have private renting as a 

benchmark in my head. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  £1,200. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  It will be lower.  Research 

I have done across European capitals, including London, shows that mortgage payments are lower than private 

rent pretty much across the board. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  If we say £600,000 is the benchmark here then about £1,200, is right? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  It depends what interest 

rate you are paying, of course. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  You are only getting this for a period of time 

obviously while you have the Government’s loan. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes.  To begin with you are just paying your mortgage payments and it is £1,200. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  On the 55% you are 

paying a commercial mortgage rate and that would be probably significantly lower than rent. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  Say you have 55% as 

your mortgage, 55% of £600,000 is £330,000.  You have interest rates at 4%? 

 

Page 23



 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  No, it would be about 

2.5%, floating or fixed. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Split it, 3%. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  We will go for 3%, then 

you are paying £9,900 a year on your mortgage side of things.  There you go, there is one number that we got 

to collectively. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  We are not doing any more numbers. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Less than £1,000 a month. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  To clarify, for the first five years you are not paying anything on the -- 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  I think you only pay a 

fee of £120. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  It is significantly cheaper 

than private renting.   

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  And it is cheaper than 

having a mortgage, at least for the first five years. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  While interest rates are low. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  Yes. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  The 55% is the mortgage 

and then you have to add on the -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Carrying on from that then, once you have to start paying 1.75% per year of the remaining 

40% - this should be easy - what is that? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  It is £270,000 times 

0.01, which is £4,700. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  £4,700 a year? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  Yes 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That then brings it up to more like private renting on a £600,000 flat, you would then be 

looking at £13,500 a year. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Correct, my instinct is that is cheap. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  I pay more than that in my -- 

 

Page 24



 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Twice that, about £500 a 

week.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  I pay significantly less than £1,350 a month for my flat. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  I think you are lucky. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I am in Zone 2 so I am extremely lucky.  Anyway, that was just to get some figures on that.  

That is useful to know as an average ballpark. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  That is going up, you 

will be paying 1.75% this year and then you might be paying something like 1.83% the year after.  Hopefully, 

you are paying down the mortgage at the same time, or trying to. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Your quote was essentially an interest-only payment, was it not, you did just the interest? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  Yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, exactly.  That is roughly the same as shared ownership, is it?  Is shared ownership a 

better deal?  Shared ownership is limited to people with incomes less than £90,000 so it is an option for the 

same kinds of people who seem to be benefitting from Help to Buy. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  The thing about shared 

ownership is it will be paying rent on the equity loan bit, the bit you do not own.  If capital values do go up 

you will only be making it on the proportion you own whereas under this Scheme you are making it on the full 

£600,000 or 100% of the value.   

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  It is an equity loan scheme so at the end of it if 

you sell house for more you share that with -- 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, you share the capital increase. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  One of the great ironies is that the national 

Government has the defence that its Scheme - whatever the flaws I accuse it of having - has actually made 

money, which is irritating.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  Assuming house prices continue to go up? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  That is fair, that is fine. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  It is worth saying Help to 

Buy does cover more than just this Scheme, it also covers the Help to Buy individual savings account (ISA), 

which I think ends later this year, and there are shared ownership schemes under Help to Buy, which I confess I 

do not know a great deal about.   

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  There is also one huge thing that I am sure you 

understand but bears repeating just in case - and I happen to have the actual numbers for it, which makes a 

change - that the average Help to Buy transaction price in London is currently £455,000.  The deposit that is 

required for that is £23,000.  If you did not have Help to Buy the average deposit would be closer to £70,000.  

Page 25



 

 

I appreciate your Committee’s interest in this is perhaps in considering alternatives to Help to Buy.  However, 

in the minds of the general public they do not look at the potential for home ownership and equate it with, “I 

could rent somewhere” or, “I could have some sort of shared ownership”, one of the other excellent schemes 

your Authority puts forward.  There is still this absurd desire within the general population to own their own 

home. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is what I was just getting on to.  I was trying to ask about the comparison between this 

and shared ownership and to add some of the numbers on that.  Can I continue, is that all right? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Absolutely, that is fine. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  If you were doing shared ownership on a £600,000 home you would be getting a quarter 

share and then paying some rent and all of that.  The overall cost would be more? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  I do not know.  I do not 

know whether other members of the panel -- 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Why would they be different from Help to Buy? 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is what I am thinking.  It must work out around about the same, would you not think? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  It might depend who you 

are sharing with.  If you are sharing with a housing association you may be paying a sub-market rent on the 

remaining portion that you do not own.  It really all depends on whether it is a market rent or a sub-market 

rent.  However, 1.75% is bound to be lower than, certainly, full market rent on that remaining 40%.  If you 

went into a straight shared ownership arrangement and were paying full market rent on 40%, even with the 

escalating rate after five years you are almost certainly paying more for rent on that 40% than you are. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That makes sense. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Rather than getting too bogged down in figures here we could always do a little 

market survey as part of our work and do some comparators for our report. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I would love to know the comparison between the three, which was the question I was trying 

to work out.  Numbers are important. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  I think there is further 

research to be done on this.  It may help you to know that for the 55% mortgage element people are 

borrowing on average 3.65 times their income generally speaking, the maximum is about four.  That reflects a 

more constrained lending environment.  In the late 1980s people were borrowing fives time or more.  That is 

just to set that bit in context. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  People are taking less of a risk on repaying their mortgage. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  The mortgage element is 

massively de-risked, (a) because it is only 55%; and (b) because the lending constraints are quite tight. 

 

Page 26



 

 

Sian Berry AM:  One difference between this and shared ownership is you do properly own the home, do you 

not?  There is an equity agreement with the Government to repay the equity plus the capital gain on their 

share when you sell - that is right, is it not - and you gain on the bit you have bought yourself? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Correct. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  What you were saying a minute ago is the Government gets profits on -- 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Correct, or loss. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, exactly.  It wins the same share of the sale price back at the end of the day on a sale 

whereas with shared ownership you do not own the whole thing.  If you default on the rent you can be evicted 

in the same kind of way.   

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Do you think people who are buying understand that they do not keep the whole share?  

They are definitely not owning it and they are not gaining all the capital that they would be.  I think that is at 

the heart of what you were saying before, Yolande, about people not being able to trade up.   

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Yes, from what I have 

read it is not clear. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Their home has gone up by £50,000, they want to trade up because they have had extra 

children but they cannot buy the next home up the ladder because they have to repay the same proportion to 

the Government, not just the original loan amount. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  They get to keep 60%. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  The gap between what they can afford and the cost of the next home up in terms of size is 

actually bigger. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  It does not solve the 

equity-gap problem for the next move.  As the Scheme is being closed to ‘second steppers’ and only open to 

first-time buyers in the future, it probably exacerbates the problem. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes.  You have already outlined that as a risk earlier on.  I am here to ask about the risks of 

this sort of scheme.  You have already gone into quite a lot of that, the fact that new-builds’ depreciation may 

be being overstated and form part of negative equity.  The risk of obsolescence of certain types of houses is 

interesting to us because we have been looking in planning terms and in other ways at the housing 

associations.  Are people building too many of these one and two-bed homes that fit into the criteria and are 

they potentially oversupplying those? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  The simple answer to that 

is yes.  They have done the research; it has not been published and they may yet get it published but my 

findings -- 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  I would be very 

interested in that, extremely interested to see that. 

Page 27



 

 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Would the Assembly be interested in paying for 

the research?  I feel a brokering opportunity. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  I am not paying your 

fees, Henry!  Yes, the work I have done shows that there are distinct topologies which cost significantly more 

to run over a long period of time.  We worked with Arup on this and we projected forward the costs of 

maintenance, upkeep, recladding, window-cleaning, the whole lot over a 30-year period.  It is eye watering, 

the difference between what you would expect to spend on a simple second-hand terraced house versus your 

typical building that you see anywhere across the London skyline that we have been building over ten or 

20 years.  They cost significantly more to run and upkeep. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  You have grabbed Assembly Member Boff’s attention. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  It is a real issue. I have 

had housing associations approach me with exactly the same question because they have become very 

concerned about what they are having to spend.  Indeed, private sector build-to-let landlords are going to 

become very concerned about this.  They will find that the recladding, the glazing, the plant and machinery, 

the common parts etc, are going to cost very much more. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  We might ask you back when we are talking about this. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  To Henry, are there any risks we have not talked about yet that you are aware of as a market 

commentator? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  No, you have a very good handle on it.  The 

commercial pressure to deliver products that meet the criteria the market is being artificially pumped to desire 

has all sorts of connotations, such as those that Yolande [Barnes] has just outlined in her last comments.  

There are loads of reasons why the end of Help to Buy cannot come too soon as far as I am concerned. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  To all of you, just finally, do you agree with some commentators who suggest that the main 

beneficiaries of Help to Buy have been the housebuilders themselves?  Yes or no, all of you. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  A simple yes, it has to be.  

It would be difficult for anyone sitting here.  We have an empty seat here, but it would be very difficult to say 

that. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  That is not to say they do not try.  The 

housebuilding fraternity are very keen to continue to deny that it has distorted the market in their favour or 

that they have profiteered from it.  I described it in print as the crack cocaine of the housing market.  It is 

something that we are addicted to and coming off it will be very painful. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  If they had not profited 

from it they would be facing a different sort of panel of shareholders to ask why they have not.  I am not going 

to criticise them from profiting from it but the simple fact of what appear to be increased build rates of course 

will lead to greater profit and it must have benefitted those who build. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  We have some case studies of companies with quite decent margins with profits that are 

rising.  We can conclude this is not a struggling industry anymore particularly in terms of its cost ability. 

Page 28



 

 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  It is fair to point out, but I do not think it is 

necessarily a bad thing that they do profit.  If you outsource a solution to the private sector they are going to 

want and demand a profit, it would be justifiable to pay them to prove you are doing it.  This is not an answer 

to social housing.  This is a very different solution to a very different problem. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  The flip side of the 

housebuilders benefiting - which they have, I am sure they will have benefited - is that there are 

170,000 households up and down the country that because of this Scheme were either able to buy a house 

because they had, in effect, a bigger deposit, or were able to get a house that was bigger than one that they 

were originally thinking of getting and one in a better location.  Yes, some developers and some builders have 

benefitted but the Scheme’s aim was to help people get on to the housing ladder, to help them overcome this 

massive deposit barrier that has become a thing because house prices have raced away over decades because 

interest rates have fallen.  It has achieved that to some extent. 

 

There is a wider question around the £9.9 billion they have loaned out already.  Should the Government have 

spent money elsewhere on loans or other guarantees for other products for not-for-sale housing?  I do not 

know, that is a big question about priorities. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is our next question. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  We will be coming on to that very shortly. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is the question that we have. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  Yes, they benefit but we 

should not forget that 170,000 families, 12,000 in London, have benefitted from this. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  There are two points that 

are worth making.  If the supply of private sector homes, new-build homes is rising you would expect, if 

planners are doing their job, for a proportion of affordable housing to be built on the back of that.  At the 

social housing end you have to acknowledge that supply must have been increased over and above what it 

would otherwise be, providing that an affordable housing percentage was provided.  That emphasises my first 

point that it does not deal with that middle market.  If you are building expensive at one end and affordable at 

the other but nothing in the middle the problems of affordability still exist in that middle market. 

 

The other thing that is worth pointing out is it is true, I was looking at it from the builders’ side.  We think that 

all this is translating into pure profit.  Of course, the very important thing we must consider it also translating 

to is land price, because it is not true that all the surplus is taken by developers as profit.  It will have 

benefitted landowners as well, or has a potential to distort land markets both by increasing demand for land as 

more people want to do more stuff.  Unfortunately, you cannot just create supply out of thin air - the supply 

of land remains finite - and discuss the relative benefits.  There may be some cases where the majority of any 

extra revenue has gone into land purchase rather than pure profit.  Do not make the automatic assumption 

that all the excess, as it were, is tracked out into profit. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  What you say about affordable housing is interesting because if you were to put Help to Buy 

homes against an amount of affordable housing, we would not find them correlated at all.  We can probably do 

that as well. 

 

Page 29



 

 

The other thing is that when it comes to individual planning decisions and trying to get affordable housing 

from private developers, land price plays a big part in that calculation.  It is not a con, if it is high end then we 

get less affordable housing.  It is a very complicated picture and the knock-on effects can be quite -- 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Bear in mind that if we 

talk about house price increases, we are talking about land price increases.  It is the price of the neighbourhood 

that Henry [Pryor] was talking about earlier that rises.  The build costs have gone up way more than the cost of 

housing.  It is the land that has increased. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Just finally on this section, Assembly Member Kurten earlier asked about the 

proportion of freehold and leasehold, I have realised I have the figures here.  In London, 84% of Help to Buy 

sales are flats of which 98.1% are leasehold, compared to outside of London, 11% of sales are flats and 81% of 

sales are freehold.   

 

Henry, we have heard of various scandals with leasehold recently.  Do you know of evidence of developers 

trying to get buyers to use preferred solicitors, for example?  Any issues with excessive ground rents and things 

like that related to the Help to Buy Scheme? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  I do not think we have yet seen the implications, 

bearing in mind the Scheme is relatively young and therefore the number of people selling their property 

purchased under Help to Buy has been very small in London, 15,000-16,000 transactions so far.  The 

proportion of those that will have sold will be tiny.  We do not have access to the data that you understandably 

would like to know because it is captured and held by one party, almost invariably the developer.  

 

Will there be problems that are exposed when the tide goes out?  Inevitably.  I expect there will be a lot of 

wailing and gnashing of teeth and a lot of finger pointing.  The answer to your question is yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Can I just add to that?  

The new-build leasehold scandal, such as it is, is for houses outside London.  The reason there is such a high 

proportion of leasehold is simply because the new-build market in London is almost exclusively flats, it is 

apartments.  You have no choice really but to have some kind of leasehold, I suppose you could have common 

hold arrangements but leaseholds are the norm.  I do not think you should assume automatically that these are 

problem leaseholds. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  You have already commented about how effective the Help to Buy 

Scheme has been in London so I am going to move on.  Despite my colleagues’ criticism of market intervention 

and ‘Keynesianism’ at the moment, I think that is just temporary on your part.  I was just wondering whether or 

not we need a successor programme to Help to Buy or do we just let the market rip?  Perhaps, Mr Pryor, you 

can tell us. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Kill it, drown it, put it out, leave it out in the 

cold. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Full stop? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Get rid of it, stop it.  Cannot put it more 

strongly; cease. 

Page 30



 

 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Are there going to be risks from that immediate stop? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Yes, for all the reasons we have outlined already 

but I am very happy to go through again.  People are the proud owners of homes for which they have paid 

more than they would otherwise have paid and that they will not be able to sell for as much, the profit element 

in the event of those who have been lucky enough to enjoy house price inflation will not all be accrued to 

them. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  You see no role for any kind of Government intervention to stimulate the 

market. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  The less intervention the better; yes, please. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  I am the choir and you are preaching to me.  Professor Barnes, what do 

you think?  

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Probably for pragmatic 

reasons, I would suggest that it is less draconian than that, but the aim should be to phase it down and 

arguably it is something that should already have gone.  Certainly, as far as London is concerned, the 

housebuilders were not an endangered industry from about 2009 onwards. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  You see no place for any successive programme. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  There are other ways to 

more usefully help the truly squeezed and where the affordability problems truly lie.  I do not think it lies 

necessarily in house buying or home buying so much as the occupation of all types. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  You see it as pitching to a different client. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  You have to view the 

market in its entirety from top to bottom.  At the moment, we are really ignoring the too difficult problem, 

which is that the people cannot afford more than £450 per square foot either in rent or in any kind of 

mortgage. 

 

I think there will still be a case, even if you did away with Help to Buy, for some help over the sheer size of that 

equity deposit that is needed.  That might lie in straightforward shared ownership of a different kind.  I am 

wondering if the more equitable thing to do would be to stop targeting.  The most important thing is probably 

to stop targeting it only at new build.  That is too distorting because of the nature of new builds.  A halfway 

house - it would not be a halfway house because it would cost more, it would broaden it out - would be to 

stop making it so targeted.  Future targeting at first-time buyers will only further distort the market.  At the 

moment, you have got that sort of squeezed middle -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Surely the market will still be distorted even if you permitted it to be -- 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  The market is distorted 

by all sorts of things.  Stamp duty distorts it, it adds to the equity barrier by increasing the cost of moving.  In 

my view if you make any intervention it will have a distorting effect automatically.  Probably the sort of effects 

Page 31



 

 

we have talked about on the new-build sector in London are particularly unhelpful because of the longer-term 

issues that are then created. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Mr Tomlinson, do you see any successive programme that might be 

worthwhile? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  I support what the 

Government has set out to do which is to not get rid of it instantly but to do some sort of tapering away.  A 

return to schemes before Help to Buy, where you had an income cap, seems like a sensible thing as an 

alternative way of tapering it away but it has chosen a regional house price cap.  That is a good thing.  I do not 

think the scheme should run and run. 

 

In preparation for this Committee, I was reading that there are people that gave evidence to the House of 

Lords Committee on housing in 2015 saying it should stop.  People have been saying it should stop for a long 

time and it should.  The housing market should not need this.  The thing to think about is what was the point 

of the Scheme?  To help people get a bigger deposit, then they could jump over that massive barrier which is 

the blockage to people being able to own their own home.  Now, Henry might think they are odd but people 

want to own homes.  We have done surveys at The Resolution -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That sentiment always comes from people who own their own home.  

Everybody else does not need to.  I do not know if that is the case. 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  Do you want to disclose my interest? 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  No, I do not want to disclose. 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  If you survey young 

people in the UK today and ask them, “What is the big thing that you think the economy is not delivering for 

you on relative to your parents?” they all talk about housing much more than anything else.  People want to 

own their own home.  The way to get into homeownership is to be able to surmount that big deposit barrier.  It 

is really glib to say, but you can do more building that in the long run has an effect on house prices, which 

reduces -- Yes, if you build in the right places it can have an effect but there are other things that happen 

because of the market and other things the Government could do to shrink the deposit barrier to make it more 

surmountable.  Again, it seems a bit glib and a bit general, but -- 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  If we are talking about a scheme that does effectively help you with the 

deposit, do you see a larger role for the housebuilder to take in such a scheme? 

 

Daniel Tomlinson (Research and Policy Analyst, The Resolution Foundation):  No, I do not think so 

but what is happening anyway.  You can track the data since the financial crisis that one of the big things that 

stop people being able to get on the housing ladder was the reining in of credit conditions.  We have seen the 

loan-to-value ratio that Londoners are willing to give plummet and now it has gone back up again basically and 

we are almost back to where we were before the crisis in terms of what lenders are willing to lend to  

first-time buyers, which means they can have a smaller deposit.  That is an important thing and it means it is 

becoming relatively easier to get on to the housing ladder than it was three or four years ago in terms of credit 

conditions.  Lenders are offering longer mortgages as well which can help but helps in a different way. 

 

There are wider things the Government could do to rebalance demand, as it were, for housing.  For example, 

recently because of an amendment that they accepted as friendly from the House of Lords they are allowing 

Page 32



 

 

local authorities to increase the surcharges on empty homes.  I think it is going to go up to 400% after the 

home has been empty for a few years.  That is a good thing to support, to encourage people to not have 

empty homes that they might just be keeping empty to get returns on.  The Government could go further in 

terms of forcing local authorities not to give discounts to people who have second homes, for example.  They 

could reform council tax.  There are lots of different changes that you could make to the tax system, to 

incentivise and basically to support first-time buyers and to make it a bit more difficult for people who already 

own a home to get a second home; that would help. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  £3.2 billion back in the economy is bound to help someone. 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Maybe, by your analysis, 

it would be better spent on keeping the Help to Buy ISAs open to enable people to raise that deposit for the 

purchase of any home for themselves rather than subsidising a new build. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  That is interesting, yes.  There are different ways to spend that amount 

of money if the Government were fine with it.  At the moment the Mayor offers a London portal which 

includes properties for sale through Help to Buy.  Do you think that adds value at all to the process?  Is there 

any other kind of role the Mayor might be able to take in terms of Help to Buy? 

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  I think a portal is very good.  I do not think 

anyone knows about it.  Obviously people do, but inevitably you only have so much resource to be able to 

promote it.  It is brilliant, a great idea.  I would encourage you to try to partner with someone in the private 

sector or the publicly quoted private sector like Right Move and Zoopla that I am sure could be persuaded that 

there are reasons why they would want to get behind it, or part thereof it. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Perish the thought that we should partner with somebody who makes a 

profit.  Any other role for the Mayor? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  It is difficult to see a role 

for the Mayor in what is a Government scheme as opposed to a local scheme, other than information. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  OK, thank you.  The Government has recently put money into affordable 

rented homes, is that the right direction of travel?  I will go to Mr Pryor on this because you expressed your 

opinion about ownership.  Do you think the Government should be investing more into affordable rented 

homes?  

 

Henry Pryor (Buying Agent and Market Commentator):  They and the Mayor’s Office, with due respect, 

should be spending much more finance and amount of time in that sector.  I would encourage you to do so. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Good.  Anyone else on that? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  What is very clear is that 

you do not significantly increase supply unless you increase it in all sectors and all areas.  For that reason, it is 

important to encourage build to rent and renting of all sorts.  If we want to see a beneficial supply side effect it 

has to be the right supply in the right place.  That could be in tenure terms but also has to be in terms of the 

type of housing and the sorts of places; not just that it is being built in but that it has been created by it.  

There is a much broader issue of diversifying our housing supply.  At the moment we are completely reliant on 

what is a very, very niche sector, especially in London. 

 

Page 33



 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Do you think any future scheme should have a view of the typology of 

homes in what it supports, bearing in mind the research you have done? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  Yes, ideally.  I sense a 

crossover here with my role as adviser on the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission here, but what we 

build will make a huge difference to its future social, environmental and economic value.  There is an 

inadequate understanding of that in not just the public sector, among private-sector landlords there is a risk 

they are building or buying the wrong type of stock to, in simple terms, achieve a long-term return for them 

and, in broader terms, better social and environmental returns for the broader society.  We are straying way 

beyond the remit of this Committee though in that. 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, we are but I had fun with that so thank you very much.  In fact, we 

can invite you all back again I think, Chair. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Yes, I would agree with that, it has been very interesting.  Do Members have any 

final questions?  Do our guest have any final thoughts they would like to offer us? 

 

Professor Yolande Barnes (Chair of the Bartlett Real Estate Institute, UCL):  I have a figure I must 

correct.  I said earlier it was one in 11 transactions were new build prior to 2013, it is 11%, roughly one in nine. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Thank you for clarifying that.   

 

Thank you all very much for coming, it was a very interesting session.  I should have said at the beginning that 

we did invite developers and housebuilders to come in.  At one point we did have one but they had to pull out 

for whatever reason, but they seemed to be a bit shy about coming and talking about Help to Buy.  That is a 

shame and I hope they will be submitting written evidence to us. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Chair, can I check we are going to write to them to ask for that? 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  I should hope so.  Yes, absolutely.  Can I thank our guests for your contributions?   

 

Page 34



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 13 June 2019 

This report will be considered in public 
 

 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out actions arising from previous meetings of the Housing Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the outstanding actions arising from its previous meetings. 

 

Action arising from the meeting 8 May 2019 

 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

6. Help to Buy in London 

During the course of the discussion Members, 

requested the following information; 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  Provide figures on property transactions levels 

for new build in London compared to existing 

stock. 

In progress. Chair of the 
Bartlett Real Estate 
Institute 

  Provide a report which contained evidence of 

price bunching for new build properties at the 

limit of the Help to Buy Equity Loan Scheme 

Completed. 
Circulated to 
Members. 

 

 

 That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any output from the discussion. 

In progress. 

 

Senior Policy 
Adviser 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



Action arising from the meeting 2 April 2019 

 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

4. Housing First 

During the course of the discussion Members, 

requested the following information; 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  Provide a summary of the breakdown of 

funding provided to homeless services across 

London; and 

In progress. Rough Sleeping 
Lead, GLA 

  Provide a breakdown of the number of people 

who are sleeping rough compared to the 

number of people in the hostel system.  

In progress. 
 

Policy and Public 
Affairs Manager, 
Crisis 

 That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any output from the discussion. 

In progress. 

 

Senior Policy 
Adviser 

 

 

 

Actions arising from the meeting of 26 March 2019 

 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

7. Update on the Use of Transport for London Land 

to Build homes 

During the course of the discussion Members, 

requested the following information; 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  Provide an update in March 2020 on how TfL 

are progressing towards their March 2021 

housing target; 

 Provide confirmation when the first residents 

will move into a home built on TfL land; 

 Provide detail on the sites where TfL are 

working in partnership with Network Rail and 

how the two organisations are working 

together; 

 Circulate the design charter use by TfL in 

discussions with developers;  

 Provide information as to whether the 

procurement processes differ for those 

developers that are on the Framework Panel, 

compared to those developers that are not; 

In progess. 
 

Commercial 
Development 
Director and Head 
of Property 
Development, TfL 
 

Page 36



 
 Whether TfL are working with enough 

different partners to guarantee effective 

competition for the sites; 

 Provide information as to how it came about 

that Triangle London Developments has won 

three of four contracts offered so far to the 13 

Property Partnership panel members; 

 Why the biggest site in Canning Town has 

been withdrawn from the Property Partnership 

and earmarked instead for Build to Rent; 

 What were the reasons for selecting a single 

partner to build out and manage all 3,000 

homes on the Build to Rent sites you have 

brought forward so far; and 

 How and when will TfL make a judgement on 

the whether the right balance has been 

achieved between consolidating effective 

relationships with a few partners and spreading 

resources. 

  

 That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any output from the discussion. 

In progress. Senior Policy 
Adviser 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting of 22 January 2019 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

6 Temporary Accommodation in the Era of Welfare 
Reform 

During the course of the discussion Members, 

requested the following information; 

  

  Provide further information on the number of 

out-of-borough placements from other 

London Boroughs that are placed within the 

London Boroughs of Croydon; and 

 To provide further information as to the 

experience and process, from the perspective 

of a London Borough, of inputting landlords 

onto the rogue landlord database; and 

 

In progress. 

Chased on  

6 March 

2019. 

 

Director of 

Gateway Services, 

London Borough of 

Croydon  

 

Page 37



  Provide clarification on whether the work 

coach, provided under Universal Credit, 

remains the same if the individual moves to a 

different Borough and how continuing of 

support is provided. 

In progress. 

Chased on 

 5 March 

2019. 

 

Head of Universal 

Credit Engagement 

Division, 

Department for 

Work and Pensions 

(DWP) and 

Homelessness 

Policy Lead, DWP.  

  

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any output from the discussion. 

 

See Agenda 

Item 6. 

 

 

Senior Policy 

Adviser 

 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting of 28 November 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

6 Affordable Housing Update 

During the course of the discussion Members, 
requested the following information; 

  
 

  Provide evidence of how the fast-track planning 

arrangements were affecting the speed of starts of 

affordable housing; 

Completed. 
Appendix 1 

Deputy Mayor for 

Housing and 

Residential 

Development 

  Confirm how often Newham reported affordable 

housing starts to the Greater London Authority;  

 Confirm from the 2018/19 starts, what number 

and what percentage were social housing; 

In progress.  
Chased on  
20 February 
2019 
 

Mayor, London 

Borough of 

Newham 

 

 That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any output from the discussion. 

In progress. 
 

Senior Policy 

Adviser 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 38



Actions Arising from the Meeting of 4 October 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

5. Question and Answer Session with Housing 

Associations 

  

 During the course of the discussion, Members 

requested the proportion of Network Homes forward 

programme that is affordable rent. 

Ongoing. 

Chased on  

13 February 

2019 

Vice Chair, g15. 

 At the end of the discussion, the guests from the g15 

committed to support publishing on an annual basis a 

London report from housing associations including, 

what they are spending on maintenance in London 

and how many homes they have in London. 

Ongoing. 

Chased on  

13 February 

2019 

 

 

 That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

an output from the discussion. 

Ongoing. 

 

Senior Policy 

Adviser 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting of 4 September 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

5. Housing Delivery Vehicles   

 That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any output from the discussion. 

Ongoing. 

 

Senior Policy 

Adviser 

 

 

3.  Legal Implications 
 

3.1   The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 
List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Letter from the Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development - 23 May 2019 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  

None. 

Contact Officer: Jonathan Baker, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7084 2825 

Email: jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk   Page 39

mailto:jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk


 

Page 40



Appendix 1

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  
Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 13 June 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public  

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out recent action taken by the Chair of the Housing Committee under delegated 

authority, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, in accordance with the delegation 

granted by the Housing Committee 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the action taken by, Tom Copley AM, the Chair of the Housing 

Committee, under delegated authority, following consultation with the party Group Lead 

Members, namely to agree the Committee’s report Living in Limbo: London’s Temporary 

Accommodation Crisis, and notes the report, attached at Appendix 1. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 Under Standing Orders and the Assembly’s Scheme of Delegation, certain decisions by Members can 

be taken under delegated authority. This report details those actions. 

 

3.2 At its meeting on 22 January 2019, the Committee resolved:  

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members to agree 

any output from the discussion on Temporary Accommodation in the Era of Welfare Reform. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

  Living in Limbo: London’s Temporary Accommodation Crisis  

4.1 The Committee’s report, Living in Limbo: London’s Temporary Accommodation Crisis, was published 

on 13 May 2019, and is attached at Appendix 1 for Members to note.     

 

 

 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



        

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  
Appendix 1 – Living in Limbo: London’s Temporary Accommodation Crisis 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: Member Delegated Authority Form 1068 (To agree the Committee’s report 

Living in Limbo: London’s Temporary Accommodation Crisis)  

 

Contact Officer:  Jonathan Baker, Committee Officer 

Telephone:  020 7084 2825 

E-mail:  jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 44

mailto:jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk


May 2019 

London Assembly Housing Committee I 1

Housing Committee 

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis 

Executive summary 

▪ The number of households living in temporary accommodation
has risen by 50 per cent in the last five years to 56,560
households, including 88,500 children by the end of 2018,
mostly in the private rented sector.

▪ The housing crisis, welfare reform and other issues make it
difficult for councils to find adequate affordable temporary
accommodation in London for those in need.

▪ Rent arrears and temporary accommodation costs are rising as
a result.

▪ People are living in insecure housing, sometimes overcrowded
and often of poor quality with little recourse to complain, and
they can wait indefinitely for permanent housing.

▪ The new Homelessness Reduction Act duties could bring real
improvements to the support available, but many councils are
struggling with the administration of these changes.

▪ Some pan-London solutions are developing, such as PLACE and
Capital Letters, to buy and to build temporary accommodation
at affordable rates.

▪ The Mayor should support local authorities in tackling this crisis
in temporary accommodation and provide more support for
pan-London solutions including good advice and support
services, as well as building more permanent homes.

Appendix 1

P
age 45



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 2  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Introduction

 

As London’s housing crisis continues homelessness is growing. The 

number of London households in temporary accommodation has risen 

by 50 per cent in the past five years, reaching 56,560 households in the 

final quarter of 2018, including 88,500 children.   

London councils are finding it more and more difficult to find enough 

temporary accommodation to meet the need, with most being placed in 

the private rented sector. Rents continue to rise, and with local housing 

allowance levels frozen until 2020, people on lower incomes can 

struggle to find affordable housing in some areas of London. Rent 

arrears have been growing across the capital along with the risk of 

eviction.  

London councils are struggling to procure decent temporary 

accommodation within their boroughs. Councils do not have enough 

suitable property themselves, so are spending more and more on 

expensive, nightly-paid private rented housing. The quality of temporary 

housing can be poor, cramped, and insecure, with little chance of 

gaining long-term social housing.   

The secure homes that homeless households need are increasingly out 

of reach, particularly for families reliant on benefits. There is a severe 

shortage of homes available in the social housing sector, and a widening 

gap between market rents and local housing allowance levels in the 

private sector. Housing offers may be made in boroughs far from where 

people feel is home, or further away in other parts of England, and 

usually in the private rented sector on assured shorthold tenancies.  

Meanwhile, Universal Credit is being rolled out across the capital, but 

Housing Benefit has been retained for temporary accommodation, 

subject to the local housing allowance and overall benefit caps. At the 

same time, changes under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 have 

started to take effect. Councils are exploring new ways of increasing the 

temporary accommodation available to them, as well as longer term 

solutions to their housing problems. The Mayor of London has provided 

some funding for temporary accommodation projects, but there is a 

great deal more to be done.  

“What we are seeing is a building up of insecurity amongst many 

families. Constantly living in fear of eviction which then, again, has 

an impact on health and on children etc. We have a particular case 

with a family of three and parents living in a bedsit for the last 

three years. Entirely inappropriate but it is the necessity. There is a 

main breadwinner in the family. It is a family that would seem to 

be doing all the right things in order to get out of poverty but they 

are being put into poverty by the system and made to feel insecure 

in that.” (Law Centre solicitor) 

P
age 46



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 3  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

The Housing Committee has been investigating the drivers of the 

increase in temporary accommodation, the experience for people facing 

homelessness and the challenges for councils trying to house them. The 

committee also looked at the development of more sustainable 

solutions for the future.  

Contents

 

Homelessness and councils’ duties 4 

The number of households living in temporary 
accommodation  

5 

The cost to borough councils 5 

The drivers of homelessness        6 

Welfare reforms 7 

Pathways to homelessness 9 

Rent arrears 12 

The experience of making a homelessness 
application 

15 

Advice, support and guidance  17 

A changing culture: The Homelessness Reduction Act 19 

The quality and suitability of temporary 
accommodation 

24 

Solutions 26 

Findings and recommendations 32 

Appendix 1 – our approach 36 

References 38 

About the Housing Committee 

The Housing Committee scrutinises the Mayor’s role and record in 
delivering the private, social and affordable homes London needs. The 
cross-party committee has 7 members: Sian Berry AM (Chair 2018-
19), Tom Copley AM (Chair 2019-20), Andrew Boff AM (Deputy Chair 
2019-20), Tony Devenish AM, Nicky Gavron AM, Leonie Cooper AM 
and David Kurten AM. 

You can find out more about the committee’s work on our website.  

P
age 47

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees/housing-committee


May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 4  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Homelessness and councils’ duties

 
 
Homelessness 
A person is homeless if they do not have a legal right to occupy any 
accommodation, or if their accommodation is unsuitable to live in. 
Examples include: rough sleeping; having accommodation that is not 
reasonable to live in, even in the short-term (because of violence or 
health reasons or severe overcrowding); having a legal right to 
accommodation that you cannot access (e.g. if you have been illegally 
evicted); living in accommodation you have no legal right to occupy 
(living in a squat, on illegal campsites or sofa-surfing); or very insecure 
accommodation (a night shelter).1 

 
The council’s duties 
Your local council must help if you are homeless or threatened with 
homelessness within the next eight weeks (56 days). The council has to 
assess your situation and provide a personal housing plan, setting out 
the steps to prevent you from becoming homeless, or find a home 
where you can stay for at least six months. This applies to everyone 
except those who don’t meet immigration and residence conditions, 
where the council only has to give general advice and information about 
where to get help.  

 
 

Temporary accommodation 
When you first seek help from your local council as homeless, the 
council can place you in emergency accommodation while they 
investigate your homeless application.2 If you are found to be 
unintentionally homeless, eligible for assistance and to have priority 
need, the council will owe you a main homelessness duty.3 The council 
must then place you in suitable temporary accommodation until a final 
offer of permanent accommodation can be made. Permanent 
accommodation may be an assured shorthold tenancy in the private 
rented sector, or a more secure tenancy in the social rented sector, and 
it may be in your local area, or elsewhere, if it is not reasonably 
practicable to find accommodation in the borough.4   
 
The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 introduced enhanced duties, 
including:  
 
• Prevention duties aimed at preventing a household threatened with 
homelessness from becoming homeless within the next 56 days.  
• Relief duties owed to households that are already homeless and 
require help to secure settled accommodation.  
• Duty to carry out an assessment and prepare a personal housing plan.  
• Duty to provide advice and information about homelessness and the 
prevention of homelessness and the rights of homeless people or those 
at risk of homelessness even to those who are not eligible for other 
support. 
 

P
age 48



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 5  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

 
The number of households living in temporary 
accommodation  

 
 

(Data from Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, Live Tables on 

Homelessness).5 

The number of households in temporary accommodation rose in the 

mid-2000s to a peak of 63,000 in 2006, then fell until 2011. From then 

onwards, numbers have risen steadily. In addition, people are staying 

for longer periods in temporary accommodation. Trust for London 

reported in 2017 that 58 per cent had lived in temporary 

accommodation for longer than a year and 12 per cent had remained for 

five years or longer. Most notable in these statistics is the dramatic 

increase in the amount of nightly paid temporary accommodation, 

which is the most costly form of temporary accommodation. 

 

The cost to borough councils6

 

 

 £-

 £50,000,000

 £100,000,000

 £150,000,000

 £200,000,000

 £250,000,000

 £300,000,000

 £350,000,000

2017-182016-172015-162014-152013-14

Table 2: Councils with the largest increase in 
spending on temporary accommodation

Brent Croydon Enfield Hackney RBKC Lambeth Newham

Table 1: Temporary accommodation in London 2002-2018 

P
age 49



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 6  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

 
Table 2 uses data published by Inside Housing magazine. Inside Housing 

gathered information under Freedom of Information legislation on 

borough councils’ spending on temporary accommodation from 2013 to 

2018. The results showed a steady and significant increase in spending 

overall, but it showed particularly significant increases in the boroughs 

shown in Table 2. Newham spends the most on temporary 

accommodation, £61.1 million in 2017-18, but the largest increase in 

spending was in Hackney where spending more than doubled from 

£25.6 million in 2013-14 to £54.8 million in 2017-18. Westminster came 

third, spending £48 million on temporary accommodation in 2017-18.7  

 

The drivers of homelessness

 
The numbers of homeless people in London continue to rise.8 There are 

well-known drivers for the rise, including a lack of affordable housing to 

rent or part-buy in London, a widening gap between market rents and 

local housing allowance levels, landlord reluctance to let to those on 

benefits, and the difficult adjustments some households need to make 

in the face of extensive welfare reforms designed to encourage more 

people into work – which may complicate budgeting and can reduce 

household incomes. Housing offers may be made in boroughs far from 

where people feel is home, or in towns in other parts of England, and 

usually in the private rented sector, on assured shorthold tenancies.  
Rent arrears are an important factor in causing homelessness, 

particularly amongst those dependent on benefits to pay their rent. In 

the private rented sector, evictions are rising. In the social housing 

sector, councils are carrying high levels of rent debt.  

 

It is widely reported that the most common immediate cause of 

homelessness is the termination of an assured shorthold tenancy in the 

private rented sector under the ‘no fault’ provision: section 21 of the 

Housing Act 1988. The Minister for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) announced the Government’s plan to abolish this 

P
age 50



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 7  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

provision in the near future. The London Assembly agreed a motion in 

July 2018, calling on the Mayor to lobby the Government to abolish this 

‘no fault’ power for landlords to evict tenants.9 We wait to see the 

outcomes of the consultation on these reforms and the Mayor’s 

‘London Model’ blueprint for tenancy reform.10  

 
Welfare reforms

 
Successive governments since 2008 have reformed the welfare benefits 

system with the stated aims of incentivising and getting more people 

into work, reducing costs, and simplifying the benefits system.  

We summarise below the most significant changes in order to explore 

the drivers of homelessness and the increase in temporary 

accommodation.   

P
age 51



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 8  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 52



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 9  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
                     Image of Job Centre Plus by Helen Cobain on Flickr11 

     

P
age 53



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 10  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

 

 
Pathways to homelessness  

 
The people we spoke to had become homeless through complex strings 

of circumstances with certain recurring themes running in the 

background.  

 

Local Housing Allowance and rents  

The maximum amount of housing benefit available to a tenant renting in 

the private rented sector, or the housing element of Universal Credit, is 

calculated by looking at the lowest 30 per cent of rents in a particular 

area, called the “broad market area”. Local Housing Allowance rates 

vary from borough to borough and even within boroughs. In Inner East 

London, for example, the Local Housing Allowance for a two-bedroom 

property for 2019-20 is set at £273.02 per week and for Outer North 

East London it is set at £165.05 per week.12  

 

P
age 54



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 11  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Routes to homelessness: case studies from our investigation 

 
Toni and her 18-year old daughter 

Toni had previously had an assured tenancy with a housing association 

in Tower Hamlets. Toni and her daughter moved in with her new 

partner in April 2018, giving up her tenancy to move into the home he 

owned in Berkshire. Everything seemed to be going well and both Toni 

and her daughter were working until Toni’s partner suddenly ended the 

relationship and told them that they had to leave within two days. She 

returned to Tower Hamlets and stayed in Toni’s mother’s one-bedroom 

flat, sleeping in the living room on the sofa and floor. This couldn’t last 

forever and Toni had to seek help from the council.  

 

Peter and his daughter 

Peter is a single parent with a ten-year old daughter. When Peter was 

released from prison on licence, he had no home to return to. Peter’s 

sister allowed him to stay at her home, sleeping in the living room, but 

when her son returned home, she no longer had space for Peter and his 

daughter. Six people were living in two bedrooms. When Peter and his 

daughter were first placed in temporary accommodation by Southwark 

Council, they were placed in one room, and a family of four lived in the 

next door room for 18 months, so they had to share a kitchen and 

bathroom.  

 

Fiona and her son 
Fiona fled from a violent relationship, leaving her housing association 

tenancy. Fiona was employed and able to secure private rented housing 

for herself and her teenaged son, but when the landlord died, the 

tenancy was terminated. Fiona’s physical and mental health were 

deteriorating and so were her finances , which made it impossible to 

gather a deposit and to clear financial checks needed to rent through an 

agency. Fiona had to take her son and go to stay with her Mum in her 

one-bedroom housing association flat. The housing association declined 

to offer them housing, they couldn’t sleep on her Mum’s floor any 

longer and Fiona was forced to present to the council as homeless.  

 
Winston and his three children 

Winston returned home to the UK from Jamaica with his three 

daughters, his wife was to follow once he’d found work and could 

sponsor her. He stayed with his sister for a while, she had to ask the 

family to leave because they were so overcrowded, and Winston had 

not yet been able to find work to pay for a deposit and rent. “You 

become homeless partly because your support network is weak and 

when you become homeless friends see you as a burden and they move 

away from you. People don’t want to be around you, because you’re not 

on your feet any more.” 

P
age 55



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 12  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Rent arrears 

 
 
One of the main immediate causes of homelessness reported in our 
investigation was rent arrears.13 Landlords reported rent arrears as a 
common cause of private rented sector tenancies ending, even when 
they chose to use ‘no-fault’ grounds for terminating the tenancy.14  
 
A private sector landlord can evict a tenant who doesn’t pay their rent 
and find one who will. A housing association may have charitable or 
social aims which motivate it to make every effort to help a tenant with 
rent arrears before evicting them, but ultimately can evict the tenant 
and leave them to fend for themselves. The position is different for 
councils. If the council evicts a tenant in priority need, that tenant is 
likely to make a homeless application back to the same council.  
 
Housing solicitors and council officers reported to us that, increasingly, 
councils are not able to find that a homeless person is intentionally 
homeless where they have been evicted for non-payment of rent, 
because the rents are simply unaffordable and not adequately covered 
by housing benefit or the housing element of Universal Credit.  
 

“We are seeing fewer intentionally homeless decisions 

because, in order to find someone intentionally homeless, the 

accommodation must be affordable. A lot of the time we are 

doing assessments and they just cannot afford to meet the 

shortfall between the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) and the 

rents charged.” 
(Lee Georgiou, Housing Needs Manager, LB Lewisham) 

 
This leaves councils in a difficult position with their own tenants. The 
council can end up carrying an increasingly heavy burden of rent arrears 
in order to avoid further homelessness. Councils are required to break 
even financially each year and will make every effort to balance out any 
rent arrears. Statistics for London councils since 2011 do not show 
dramatic changes in rent arrears until 2017-18, when they rise suddenly. 
The reasons for this are not clear, but the increase coincides with the 
roll-out of Universal Credit across London.  
 

 
(Data from MHCLG Local Authority Housing Data)15 

93,155,190 

74,421,511 
75,776,287 

75,079,226 
69,282,603 72,011,631 70,320,393 

2017-182016-172015-162014-152013-142012-132011-12

Table 3: Rent arrears of council tenants

P
age 56



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 13  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Table 4: Reasons for rent arrears in the private rented sector 

Rent arrears in the private rented sector 
 
The English Housing Survey conducted a survey of landlords in the 

private rented sector. The survey found private renters in London spend 

some 43 per cent of their income on rent, compared with 32 per cent 

outside London.16 Although private renters are less likely to be in arrears 

than social renters, about nine per cent of private renters were in 

arrears with their rent, and 13 per cent of households with children. 

Some 12 per cent of households in receipt of housing benefit in the 

private rented sector had been in arrears at some point over the 

previous year. Table 4 shows the most common reasons people 

reported for their rent arrears, which were: unemployment (23 per 

cent), working fewer hours (15 per cent), problems with benefits (19 per 

cent). Of those reporting problems with benefits, the main reasons 

given were: benefit caps (36 per cent), delays in receiving benefits (34 

per cent) and reductions in benefits (26 per cent).17 

 

“The impact of welfare reform has been huge on our 

members. We do a welfare quarterly survey and have tracked 

the impact for the past three years. On the rent arrears 

reported in 2018 of those who have moved across to Universal 

Credit, out of 3,000 members, 61 per cent of them reported 

that their tenants were in rent arrears. That was up from 38 

per cent in 2017.” 
(Natalie Williamson, Residential Landlords Association.)  
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Chart reproduced from: MHCLG English Housing Survey)18 

 

P
age 57



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 14  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Reasons for rent arrears in the private rented sector 
 

Universal Credit is usually paid directly to the claimant, unlike housing 

benefit, which is paid directly to the landlord. The Residential Landlords 

Association reported complex processes for landlords to apply for rent 

to be paid directly to them and delays when they did apply, often 

leaving small landlords in difficulty with paying their mortgages. The 

Residential Landlords Association told us that tenants who “could have 

had quite successful tenancies before they migrated across” to Universal 

Credit were falling into rent arrears. However, better systems were 

being introduced for Alternative Payment Arrangements (rent paid 

directly to the landlord) to be made. The Department for Work and 

Pensions (DWP) accepted that the process had not been very effective 

for landlords but assured us that improvements were being introduced.  

“[…] the legislation is about it being in the best interests of the 

claimant to have the money paid directly to the landlord, so 

our staff have guidelines. Vulnerability is one of the criteria.  

The other one is the existence of arrears […] One of the things 

we are very keen to give our staff training on is to identify 

people who are vulnerable and who might therefore need to 

have that put in place. In fact, we ask them now, ‘Were you on 

Housing Benefit before? If you were on Housing Benefit in the 

private sector and you had a direct payment, should we carry 

that on into the new arrangement?’”   
(Richard d’Souza, Head of Universal Credit Engagement Division, DWP)  

 

The councils with the biggest increases in rent arrears follow the same 

overall pattern, but show dramatic rises in the last year, 2017-18. 

 
(Data from MHCLG live tables)19  

 -

 5,000,000

 10,000,000

 15,000,000

 20,000,000

 25,000,000

 30,000,000

 35,000,000

 40,000,000

2017-182016-172015-162014-152013-142012-132011-12

Table 5: Pattern of areas in councils with biggest increases in 
rent arrears

Brent Camden

Croydon Hackney

Hammersmith and Fulham Newham

Southwark

P
age 58



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 15  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

The experience of making a homelessness application 
 

One of the many distressing issues we have covered in our review is the 

treatment that some people have experienced as they seek to make a 

homelessness application.  

 

Toni 

When Toni presented herself at the housing office, she had just been 

released from hospital, after taking an overdose. The housing officer 

would not accept this had happened without evidence from the 

hospital. Nor would the officer accept that Toni had disabilities, replying, 

“you’ve got no proof of that”. Evidence was sent by her GP, but the 

housing office had no record of receipt, although the GP had a record of 

payment having been made by the council for the report.  

 

When Toni tried to follow up on her homelessness application, the 

housing officer did not answer Toni’s emails or phonecalls. Her requests 

to see a different housing officer were refused. Toni visited the office 

many times. Eventually, she became frustrated and the housing officer 

asked her to leave. Toni was provided with temporary accommodation 

through the help of a third sector organisation, Providence Row.  

 

 

Peter 

When he went to the housing office to apply as a homeless person, 
Peter described the interview as one of the worst experiences he had 
had in his life.  

These experiences were consistent with research by Crisis back in 2014, 

based on research carried out by eight ‘mystery shoppers’ who visited 

16 local authorities and found widespread poor-quality advice, guidance 

and support.20 This report was instrumental in Crisis persuading Bob 

Blackman MP to promote the Homelessness Reduction Bill, with the 

support of the Local Government Association. In 2016, an anonymous 

housing officer wrote a report for The Guardian about their job:  

“I work in a service where not helping people is generally seen 

as doing a good job. But I keep doing the job because just 

occasionally I can slip someone through the gate who others 

might have shut out.” 

(Anonymous housing officer, 2016) 21 

Similar findings were made in our 2017 investigation of hidden 

homelessness.22  

We hoped to find improvements as a result of the implementation of 

the Homelessness Reduction Act, but we recognise that such changes 

take time. In our focus group of people in temporary accommodation 

P
age 59



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 16  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

and in our round-table event with housing solicitors, we heard several 

examples of:  

• A continuing culture of disbelief and requirement for people to 

prove that they were homeless and that the council had a duty 

to assist.  

• Families being told to attend the council’s civic centre on the day 

of their eviction, rather than alternative accommodation being 

sought in advance, and being left to wait all day with their bags, 

before emergency accommodation was eventually found.  

• A lack of sympathy for vulnerable and distressed people facing 

homelessness.  

• An unwelcoming approach at the Council’s housing office. Emails 

and calls were not answered; case workers claimed to have no 

knowledge of what another member of staff had said or done; a 

case worker rapidly ticked through boxes on a form without 

explaining what they meant or asking the claimant; some 

housing officers expected the claimant to know what the 

procedures were and what documentation they needed to 

provide; some did not take the time to make sure the claimant 

understood the next steps to take and what to expect.  

• A lack of adequate advice, support or assistance, either on 

housing options, or on related benefits problems, even where 

the benefit delays or other problems appeared to have 

contributed to the person becoming homeless.  

• A lack of clarity in the information provided.  

• A lack of ongoing support once the person had been found 

temporary accommodation, including a lack of support in moving 

on from temporary to more sustainable housing.  

“…they don’t treat you with dignity. You come in stressed and 

needing help and the way they treat you makes you more 

stressed.”  
(Peter, living in temporary accommodation with his daughter.) 

Housing solicitors gave us a number of examples of cases where the 

service provided was inadequate:  

Law centre case  

A client placed out of borough who was without family support. The 

receiving local authority threatened to take the children into care. 

 

 

 

P
age 60



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 17  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Law centre case  

In another case a family refused to be placed out of borough and were 

left in the reception at the civic centre. Five children were sleeping on 

the chairs of the civic centre. They had been there all day with no food.  

One of the children was only three months old.   

 

“There seems to be very little communication between social services 

and the housing department. In one case a headteacher telephoned us 

to complain about a family who had been left homeless that night.  

They had been offered accommodation in Birmingham and did not 

accept it, so the council discharged its duty to the family.“ 

(Law centre solicitor)  

 

We also heard examples of homeless people having to turn to 

independent charities–often several charities, who provided services 

which duplicated each other in part–in order to get advice and support 

on their housing and their benefits, which had not been provided by the 

Council’s housing office or Job Centre Plus.  

 

 

Advice, support and guidance 

 

Councils’ statutory duties include: the duty to make assessments and 

provide a personalised housing plan for eligible homeless applicants; the 

main housing duty; the duty to prevent and the duty to relieve 

homelessness. In addition, borough councils have a duty to provide 

advice and information about homelessness, the prevention of 

homelessness and the rights of homeless people or those at risk of 

homelessness, as well as about the help that is available from the 

housing authority or others and how to access that help.23   

A wide range of charities also offer advice services, as well as Citizens 

Advice which now has the contract for benefits advice on behalf of the 

DWP. In addition, law centres provide advice and representation.  

We heard evidence from members of the temporary accommodation 

focus group, from housing solicitors and from charities that people had 

been given incomplete or inaccurate advice or that they simply had not 

been advised on some aspects of their benefits, debt or housing 

problems, their rights and the support available to them. This was in line 

with evidence from Justlife’s Temporary Accommodation Boards, our 

Hidden Homelessness investigation and academic research. 

  

P
age 61

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_assembly_-_hidden_homelessness_report.pdf


May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 18  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Homeless people in our focus group and the clients of housing solicitors 

reported at the roundtable that they had sought advice from several 

different charities, sometimes going around the houses in search of 

advice and support which the council’s homelessness team, benefits 

team and Job Centre Plus have an obligation to provide.  

In some cases, similar advice and support was sought from different 

organisations, duplicating each other’s efforts. In some cases it was not 

clear why one organisation succeeded in providing support where 

another had failed. For example, it is unclear why No First Night Out 

provided our focus group member Toni with emergency 

accommodation (on a referral from Providence Row) rather than the 

Council. And it was unclear why the council would not provide focus 

group member Fiona and her son with emergency accommodation until 

Shelter intervened, and then would not move them from unsuitable 

accommodation until Shelter intervened again. Another young person 

with a history of domestic violence reported being sent around several 

charities and receiving a great deal of support from the Peer Support 

Workers team at the Greater London Authority.  

With all these organisations providing advice and support, it was gravely 

concerning to us to hear that people had been given incomplete or 

inaccurate advice, or that they simply had not been advised on some 

aspects of their benefits, debt or housing problems, nor had their rights 

been enforced or adequate support made available to them. We heard 

several stories of appropriate support only being provided under threat 

of legal action.  

The DWP runs a support scheme called Universal Support to provide 

advice and assistance for people claiming Universal Credit.  

The support scheme will help claimants through every step of 

making a Universal Credit claim. It will offer people the 

comprehensive and practical support they need to get their 

first payment on time and be ready to manage it when it 

arrives.  
(DWP announcement, 1 October 2018)24  

In April 2019 Citizens Advice took on the responsibility for delivering the 

Universal Support service on behalf of the DWP. This does not remove 

the obligations upon work coaches at Job Centre Plus to provide advice 

and assistance, particularly when a claimant is homeless or threatened 

with homelessness. The Department confirmed this at our meeting in 

January:  

“[…]we have done a lot of work to promote awareness to 

work coaches of the importance of identifying where 

somebody is at risk or homeless. A work coach’s priority will 

P
age 62



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 19  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

be looking to move somebody towards work and there is a 

recognition that if somebody is at risk of homelessness, 

employment is not going to be their number one priority. It is 

completely sensible that a work coach reflects on that.”  
(Sidonie Edey, Homelessness Policy Lead, Department for Work and Pensions) 

 

There is a need to improve the provision of advice and support through 

Job Centre Plus and Citizens Advice: to continue to work on how housing 

officers and Job Centre Plus teams can best provide support, advice and 

assistance. 

 
A changing culture: the Homelessness Reduction Act 

 
 

Councils are committed to improving the advice and support available 

from their housing and homelessness services. We heard examples of 

very good practice in some boroughs and of significant efforts being 

made by councils to use the introduction of the Homelessness 

Reduction Act to change not only their practices, but to develop cultural 

changes to transform the experience for people at risk of homelessness 

who seek help. As we said in our Hidden Homelessness report, providing 

good quality advice, support and guidance requires sufficient funding for 

officers to spend the time providing the support that these vulnerable 

people need. There is also a need to improve the provision of advice and 

support through Job Centre Plus.   

 

In our Hidden Homelessness report we recommended:  

The Government should recognise the acute nature of homelessness 

in London and keep under review the funding to implement the 

Homelessness Reduction Act for London local authorities, to ensure 

that boroughs have sufficient resources to relieve and prevent 

homelessness.  

 

The councils we spoke to were working hard to improve their service to 

homeless people and to implement the Homelessness Reduction Act 

both in letter and in spirit. This is no easy task and will take time, as well 

as training and changes in culture. The additional duties upon councils 

mean that their officers need to spend more time with each person they 

are trying to help and that help needs to start earlier and continue for 

longer. All of this is costly and we reiterate our call for Government to 

provide borough councils with sufficient funding to do this important 

work.  

P
age 63



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 20  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

We heard reports of an increase in bureaucracy as a result of the 

Homelessness Reduction Act processes, both in this investigation and in 

our 2017 investigation of hidden homelessness. Southwark’s Housing 

Solutions Manager described the cultural changes taking place and the 

pressures on his team in 2017.  

 

“[W]e are seeing a culture change amongst officers. The 

bugbear, the big problem, the big issue we have, or one of the 

big issues, is of course the bureaucracy is just killing us […] 

with officers then concentrating their efforts on doing all 

those bureaucratic elements of the work rather than helping 

the customers.” 
(Vincent Lawal, Housing Solutions Manager, LB Southwark)25 

 

 

 

Tower Hamlets 

“Whilst councillors across the country have supported the principles of 

the Act, as we heard earlier from some of the local authority 

comments, the way it is working in practice there is a lot of 

paperwork, there is a lot of bureaucracy and there is a lot of form 

filling. That is all designed to help but it actually slows down the 

process. I could say that for our own team in Tower Hamlets, typically 

when someone came in to present as homeless we might have spent 

an hour or two with them previously. We are now spending three or 

four hours with them. It has almost doubled the processing time, if 

that is not a horrible word to use. When we work with people we have 

to fill in a whole load of forms. There is a process we have to follow in 

order to input all the information onto the system which is then 

reported back to the MHCLG. It is important to monitor what we are 

doing and keep track of things but we would all like to get that process 

a bit more streamlined and a bit faster. That is a message that we are 

feeding back as part of the review of how the Act is working in 

practice.”  

(Mark Baigent, Interim Divisional Director, Housing and Regeneration, 

LB Tower Hamlets) 

 

P
age 64



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 21  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Croydon 

“Croydon was one of the forerunners in terms of taking forward 

welfare reforms and so what we have had to do is really think 

differently and look at the way that we organise ourselves as a local 

authority to ensure that we put early intervention and prevention 

right at the heart of what we do. That means realigning resources so 

that we are helping people before they even get to that position […] 

What we do now within Gateway Services is we have a team that 

works with people who are found intentionally homeless. We do not 

necessarily provide accommodation, but what we are in the business 

of doing is helping people to help themselves by helping with things 

like rent in advance and deposits and information so that people can 

find accommodation so that they are not in this position such as the 

lady who was on the video for four years of her life being stuck.” 

(Julia Pitt, Director of Gateway Services, LB Croydon.) 

 
Croydon reported their approach to rent arrears: working with the 
whole family. In addition, both Croydon and Lewisham reported taking a 
multi-agency approach.   
 
Both boroughs found that pre-empting problems before they reached 
crisis point was helpful, but the challenges they faced were significant.  

Lewisham 

“We work in a holistic way to work around the whole family or the 

vulnerable adult around personal budgeting support, debt advice and 

support, income maximisation, making sure people are getting the 

right benefits that they are entitled to. We are finding that this 

approach is indeed having an impact on the numbers of people who 

are presenting because we are helping them earlier on in the journey.  

There is still more for us to do, but the way that we are working is one 

where we are doing our very best with the tools we have.” 

“What we have done as well is we have officers now within the front 

doors of both adult social care and children’s social care so that, when 

people are coming through, we are picking up issues early and they 

are not being diverted off and then the crisis becomes bigger and 

bigger. By having people co-located within that front door, some of 

those issues can be tied up a lot more quickly.” 

“We are also trying to get involved much earlier and take a 

collaborative approach around finding solutions and that is a huge 

barrier. When we cannot keep people in their own homes as a result 

of some of the policy decisions around welfare reform, it is much more 

difficult to find alternative accommodation that is sustainable and 

affordable. We are getting it from both ends: one, in people who are 

P
age 65



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 22  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

becoming homeless and two, in finding solutions to move people on 

from there.”  

(Lee Georgiou, Housing Needs Manager, LB Lewisham) 

 

Legal Aid 

The Housing Court Duty Scheme provides help at court to people facing 

eviction or repossession on that day, providing free legal advice, 

referrals onwards and representation at the hearing. The schemes in 

London courts are run by law centres. 

We heard examples of cases where the first legal advice a person 

received was at the door of the court. These last-minute interventions 

were able to start the process of unravelling complex histories which 

had brought families to the brink of homelessness. With advice, 

assistance and representation, it was often possible to prevent 

homelessness and sort out benefit problems which had contributed.  

“I had a case with a woman who was [suffering] horrendous domestic 

violence and had been rehoused. She had three children. When the 

youngest one went to school she tried to work part time. Her local 

council lost her housing benefit forms twice. By the time I saw her at 

court she was £4,000 in arrears and the housing office said, “No, we 

want possession today”. The judge was with me on Article 8 [of the 

European Convention on Human Rights: the right to privacy and family 

life] i.e. it was not proportionate. We adjourned it for five weeks and in 

that time, through Ealing Law Centre, and their crisis navigator who 

helps with that, we got all of the money back and she did not get 

evicted.” (Law centre solicitor) 

  

We also heard from housing solicitors about the difficulties they faced in 

taking on the numbers of cases which needed help, and the impact of 

legal aid reforms on their ability to represent people in taking cases 

where their temporary accommodation was in disrepair, overcrowded 

or unsuitable. They also reported the problems faced by councils in 

trying to enforce against poor quality accommodation.  

 

“We have loads of people making enquiries about the quality of their 

temp accommodation and we just can’t deal with all of them. The 

quality of the temp accommodation has to be pretty bad to qualify for 

legal aid, there has to be serious risk of harm.” (Law centre solicitor) 

 

“Suitability cases are still covered under legal aid – they tend to be “legal 

help” cases where a limited amount of advice and assistance can be 

given, but not representation.” (Law centre solicitor) 

P
age 66



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 23  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

“It’s almost impossible to get the council to enforce re: disrepair where 

there is no legal aid and a shortage of Environmental Health Officer 

provision.” (Law centre solicitor) 

 

“A lot of firms have stopped doing legal aid disrepair work for temporary 

accommodation because of the need for serious risk of harm as a 

qualifier for legal aid. The law centre still does, however they are quite 

difficult to undertake and are often not what the people in the 

accommodation want, they want something more permanent. “  

(Law centre solicitor) 

 

“If you want to challenge to quality of temp accommodation in a council 

owned building you can sue the local authority, but this is difficult to do 

in temporary accommodation and due to legal aid changes.” (Law centre 

solicitor)  

Local community law centres have in the past been supported in part by 

grant funding from their borough councils and in part from legal aid 

contributing about 40 per cent each, with the remainder coming from 

other grants. The Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders 

Act (LASPO) 2012 changed the categories of cases which could be 

funded by legal aid, as well as the levels of advice, assistance or 

representation available. Legal advice is no longer available for benefit 

and most debt cases, and for disrepair cases except where there is a 

“serious risk of harm.” The civil legal aid caseload has fallen 80 per cent 

since the introduction of LASPO 2012 and the civil legal aid spending has 

fallen by 45 per cent.26 In Hackney, for example, the Hackney 

Community Law Centre has reported that their legal aid income is down 

about 30 per cent as a result of the 2012 Act. In addition, cuts to council 

funding has made it more and more difficult for them to continue to 

contribute at the same level.27  

 

The Ministry of Justice published its review of the 2012 Act in February 

2019, accepting that in some cases, the legislation has not been able to 

protect those who are most vulnerable and may have increased costs to 

the public purse in other areas. Government will conduct further 

investigations to understand the impact and how best to mitigate these 

unwanted effects.28 

  

P
age 67



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 24  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

The quality and suitability of temporary accommodation 

 
 
Once possible temporary accommodation has been found by the local 

authority it must be ‘suitable’ in law for the applicant and anyone living 

with them.29 Suitability criteria include:  

 

• Space and arrangement (overcrowding and the number of 

bedrooms). 

• Location, including proximity to school particularly for children. 

approaching public exams, and to work.  

• Particular medical or physical needs. 

• Social considerations, including risk of violence, racial or other 

harassment in a particular locality.  

 

Suitability must be kept under review and what is suitable for interim 

accommodation, while a local authority investigates whether a main 

housing duty is owed to the household, is not necessarily suitable for 

longer term temporary accommodation.30  

 

Families with children should not be placed in bed and breakfast 

accommodation (with shared kitchen or bathroom facilities) except in 

an emergency, and even then, only for a maximum of six weeks. 

Nevertheless, we heard numerous examples from housing solicitors’ 

case-loads of families housed in accommodation which the law centres 

argued was unsuitable:  

 

Case 1 

A working father and mother with eight-year old twins were living in 

a council homeless hostel for four years in a 50m2 room. The hostel 

has been the subject of litigation over suitability and press coverage 

ensued. The family reported a major flood to the council and to the 

hostel manager. It was agreed to move them, but to another smaller 

room in same hostel of less than 30m2. In practice they cannot move 

their belongings and four beds into the room. This room would be 

considered unlawfully overcrowded under the Housing Act 1985 but 

is ‘suitable’ for purposes of Part 7 Housing Act 1996.  

 

Case 2 

A mother lives in temporary accommodation with two young children 

in a single room in large council hostel in East London. The room has 

its own kitchen and bathroom. One of the children has a high level of 

special needs and communication and language issues. Due to the 

size of the room, they all share one bed. 

 

P
age 68



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 25  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Winston’s temporary accommodation 

Winston and his three daughters were initially placed in emergency 

accommodation in a single room with 2 single beds, a double bed and 

a wash basin. The bathroom was shared with others on the corridor 

and was often unclean. The mattresses were infested with bed bugs 

and the girls were badly bitten.  

 

Once the Council accepted that they owed a duty to house the family, 

they were moved to temporary accommodation – a self-contained flat 

in the private rented sector - two rooms, one of which had the 

cooking facilities in it as well as two beds. There were four single beds 

in these two rooms. There is a check-in system at the front door and 

all visitors must leave by 10pm, making their social lives difficult. The 

property is not in the best of shape. The carpet has ingrained dirt and 

smells, there have been problems with the electricity and with the 

heating. The windows are badly fitted and rain comes in if it rains 

hard, as well as draughts. Mould continues to grow on one wall, 

despite Winston frequently removing it.  

 

Winston felt that his temporary accommodation needed revamping. 

He said there were problems with the flooring, ceiling, plumbing and 

other parts. He felt that the council could be more stringent with their 

guidelines and accountability for the quality of these homes.  

Young person’s temporary accommodation  

“With shared accommodation, they’re not really thinking about who 

they place together. Like I’m really young and I share with a crack head. I 

don’t feel safe. Even in the hostel, they don’t think about it, it’s scary. It’s 

inappropriate. Two weeks ago, the house in Peckham had CCTV 

everywhere and I was thinking, ‘what’s going on here that they need 

CCTV?’ And when I moved to the other house, a woman they put there 

was asking to move because someone was stabbed just outside. And it’s 

just not safe. They put people who are mentally ill with people who have 

alcohol issues. It’s not right.” 

 
Young person’s temporary accommodation 
This young person became homeless when her supported housing 
project for young victims of domestic violence closed down. The council 
found her temporary accommodation the same day in another borough 
on the other side of the river from her family. It was a B&B hostel.  
 
“It was surrounded by CCTV because of all the crime there, with crack 
heads and gang members around. I was scared to walk around there. 
My anxiety went through the roof. I called the council every day to ask 
them to move me. I had to give my key in at the security desk every time 
I left the building. It just didn’t feel safe.”  
 
After a couple of months, the council moved her to a shared house with 
shared bathroom and kitchen. 

P
age 69



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 26  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

 

Toni’s temporary accommodation 

Toni was placed in emergency B&B hostel accommodation outside her 

home borough and her 18-year old daughter was placed along the 

same corridor. Then Toni’s daughter was moved to YMCA 

accommodation in another borough, because she was considered an 

adult so did not need to be placed with Toni. The YMCA 

accommodation is quite nice but is not near her mother. Toni found 

mice in her room, running over her bed. When Toni and her daughter 

tried to discuss the situation with reception staff, they were rude and 

eventually threatened to hit Toni’s daughter. She was moved to 

another B&B in another borough. She still shares a kitchen and 

bathroom, but this place is not too bad. She doesn’t know what will 

happen next. 

 
Many London boroughs are having to place homeless households 

outside their home borough because of the lack of affordable housing 

available, particularly in Inner London. Of the 56,560 households in 

temporary accommodation at the end of 2018, 19,890 households were 

placed out of their home borough.31 The experiences described here are 

typical examples of problems with the quality and suitability of 

temporary accommodation that we heard about.  

 

 

Solutions 

 
Clearly, the long-term solutions lie in increasing the housing supply and 

the supply of affordable housing of all sizes to meet the needs of 

Londoners. However, on any calculation, it will be several years before 

the need for more temporary accommodation starts to reduce.  

 

We heard about three significant projects to secure more, better quality 

affordable temporary accommodation for Londoners. Two of these 

emerged from discussions between boroughs at London Councils: PLACE 

and Capital Letters.  

P
age 70



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 27  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

PLACE 

The Pan-London Accommodation Collaborative Enterprise (PLACE) 

intends to build precision-manufactured homes on meanwhile sites, 

which can be moved from one site to another as needed. The aim is to 

build 200 homes across London with the first modular homes on site by 

2021.  

 

PLACE is a not-for-profit company set up by Tower Hamlets Council with 

the support of London Councils, with a view to encouraging as many 

London boroughs as possible to join.  

 
When we met on 22 January 2019, six councils had joined the PLACE 

project. When one meanwhile site is required for development, the 

project will seek another site to move the housing to.  

 

This is not the first modular set of temporary accommodation to be set 

up on a meanwhile site. Lewisham council developed PLACE Ladywell 

(pictured) with support from the Mayor of London on the meanwhile 

site left vacant when Ladywell Leisure Centre was demolished. The 

building is owned by London Borough of Lewisham which provides 

temporary accommodation on the upper floors. The ground floor is 

managed by managed by Meanwhile CIC, a social enterprise, and let out 

to various businesses.   
 

P
age 71



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 28  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

As Mark Baigent explained, collaboration between the boroughs makes 

the project less financially risky.   

 

“[…]if you think about all the London boroughs working 

together on this, then if Tower Hamlets has a site for the next 

five years, we then move those homes to Newham, they are 

there for five years and then we move them to Waltham 

Forest so that they work their way around London, over the 

course of, say, 40 years, which would hopefully be the lifespan 

of these units, they could move maybe four or five times. 

Having looked at the finances of it, that creates a much better 

financial plan for investing in those units.” 
(Mark Baigent, Interim Divisional Director, Housing and Regeneration, LB Tower 

Hamlets) 

 

Councils would save money otherwise paid into expensive nightly paid 

temporary accommodation.  

 

PLACE will be funded by a combination of £11 million awarded from the 

Mayor’s Innovation Fund and a loan to be repaid from rents from 

councils over the 40-year life of the units. Deborah Halling, Senior Policy 

Office for Homelessness in the Mayor’s Team encouraged others to 

apply to the Innovation Fund.  

 

“[The Innovation] Fund remains open for further bids from 

boroughs to fund provision of accommodation that can be 

used for homeless households, whether that is as temporary 

accommodation or to prevent homelessness or to discharge 

duty[…]The Innovation Fund has an important part to play.” 
(Deborah Halling, Senior Policy Officer for Homelessness, Housing And Land, Greater 

London Authority) 

 

Capital Letters  

 

Capital Letters is also a not-for-profit company, set up through London 

Councils as a result of their discussions about possible solutions to the 

crisis in the availability of affordable, good quality temporary 

accommodation. Capital Letters will lease homes from owners across 

London in order to rent them out to boroughs as temporary 

accommodation, or longer-term accommodation.  

 

Mark Baigent chairs Capital Letters’ Board of Directors. He explained to 

us that Capital Letters will obtain properties on longer leases of, say, five 

years, will manage the properties, carry out any repairs and provide 

P
age 72



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 29  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

support services needed for people living in temporary accommodation. 

Mark Baigent believed Capital Letters would be able to provide much 

better quality-management than most private sector landlords. 

 

At the date of our meeting in January, thirteen boroughs had committed 

to signing up for Capital Letters.  

 

It is also hoped that by procuring properties across London, Capital 

Letters will enable boroughs to place people in accommodation closer 

to home, avoiding out-of-borough placements and the associated 

disruption and loss of social support.  

 

The intention is to charge rents in line with local housing allowance 

levels, avoiding the gap that can lead into debt and rent arrears. This 

would depend on the company’s ability to agree incentive payments 

with landlords within those levels, but it is hoped that the promise of 

longer leases and good management would entice landlords. An 

important benefit of this pan-London organisation would be to prevent 

the costs paid by councils for temporary accommodation in the private 

rented sector continuing to rise exponentially, as boroughs would not 

be competing with each other to rent these homes. However, Mark 

Baigent recognised that payments might have to vary in different parts 

of London.  

 

The Mayor of London’s Housing and Land Team have been involved in 

the development of the feasibility study which led to the business case 

for Capital Letters.  

 

“The purpose of both of them is to improve the price that 

councils are paying for their temporary accommodation and 

to improve the quality for the people living in that temporary 

accommodation. They are not seen as the single or the two 

only answers to the problems in London, but they are seen as 

a big step towards improving the situation […] The big 

advantage is that it stops local authorities all ringing the same 

property owners to try to get hold of the same properties. 

There would be one central hub and one team procuring, we 

hope eventually for the whole of London” 
(Mark Baigent, Interim Divisional Director, Housing and Regeneration, LB Tower 

Hamlets)  

 

  

P
age 73



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 30  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Real Lettings  

Real Lettings is a partnership between the homelessness charity St 

Mungo’s and the social investment body Resonance to buy homes 

across London, with the aim of ensuring that the properties are of a 

good standard and to let them to households who would otherwise be 

homeless, charging rent at Local Housing Allowance rates. Homes are 

allocated to people who would otherwise be homeless through 

investment partners, some of whom are boroughs. A number of 

boroughs have invested in Real Lettings. The idea with Real Lettings is 

that investors make funding available, they get a return on that funding 

within five to seven years, and over that time that supports Real Lettings 

to make homes available that can be used to meet housing need.  

 

The Mayor of London has invested £15 million in Real Lettings. The 

London Boroughs of Croydon, Lambeth and Westminster joined 

Resonance and St Mungo’s as limited partners and committed a total of 

£45 million of investment to purchase, refurbish, let and manage around 

330 affordable homes. The remaining funding is expected to come from 

other local authorities and investors. Further Mayoral investment has 

been approved for the Real Lettings Property Fund 2 in order to 

purchase 75 affordable homes by 2021 to enable former rough sleepers 

and victims of domestic abuse to progress from refuges to longer-term 

housing.32  

 

“[…] the Mayor has been clear that on temporary 

accommodation a two pronged approach is needed: looking 

at some of the things we can do now to improve what 

boroughs can offer to the too many households across London 

who have become homeless, but also looking at what can be 

done to reduce that number of households becoming 

homeless and therefore the number of households who need 

temporary accommodation.” 
(Deborah Halling, Senior Policy Officer for Homelessness, Housing and Land, Greater 

London Authority) 

 
Deborah Halling set out the Mayor’s approach to temporary 

accommodation, which includes funding the building of new homes and 

also mentioned the development of a better rental model.  

The vast majority of people living in temporary accommodation are 

licensees, not tenants with full statutory protection. We are concerned 

to ensure that any improved rental model developed by the Mayor 

and/or Government improves the precarious position of licensees living 

in temporary accommodation.  

 

 

P
age 74



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 31  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Other parts of the solution  

Several boroughs have been buying existing properties to rent out as 

temporary accommodation, sometimes buying back properties which 

had previously been in local authority ownership. In response to 

questions from Assembly Members, Deborah Halling agreed that the 

Mayor might look into loan financing through the Affordable Homes 

Programme to help boroughs which are buying properties to let as 

temporary accommodation.  

 

Private companies have also bought homes, either with a view to leasing 

them to borough councils for use as temporary accommodation, or in 

joint ventures. For example, Legal & General has bought 167 homes in 

Croydon, which it has leased them to the London Borough of Croydon 

for 40 years. The councils will pay the company rent at levels which the 

council reports could save it up to £20 million. After the 40-year term 

ends, the properties will belong to the council.33 

 

The DWP reported to the Housing Committee that they were working 

hard with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

to improve partnership working, but they recognised that there was a 

great deal of work to do on this.  

 

DWP and the MHCLG were in the process of developing a joint 

predictive model of homelessness and rough sleeping. A joint study was 

conducted in December 2018 and work was underway to agree the next 

steps. Homelessness Policy Lead, Sidonie Weaver explained that they 

were seeking to develop:  

 

“[…] a quantitative predictive model of homelessness and 

rough sleeping. The aim is that then you could apply that 

model to various policy scenarios to help assess the impact of 

any future Government intervention on the levels of 

homelessness.” 
(Sidonie Weaver, Homelessness Policy Lead, Department for Work and Pensions) 

 
We will watch the development of this model with interest.  

 

  

P
age 75



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 32  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Findings and recommendations 

 
There is a crisis in temporary accommodation in terms of the numbers 

of people living in insecure accommodation, the poor quality of many of 

the properties, and the cost to the public purse. Many households are 

left in temporary accommodation indefinitely, with no hope of acquiring 

secure affordable housing. Others are having to choose between leaving 

the area they call home, and their social support, or losing their 

temporary accommodation. The long-term solution may be more 

affordable homes for Londoners but, in the meantime, improvements 

must be made.  

 
Advice, support and guidance  
 
There is still a need to improve the quality of advice and support for 

people on benefits, at risk of homelessness and in temporary 

accommodation in order to realise the aims of the Homelessness 

Reduction Act.  

Recommendation 1 

The Mayor should liaise with London boroughs to ensure that the 

Homelessness Reduction Act is being fully implemented. He should 

also work with the London Assembly and London Councils to 

establish the ongoing financial support needed for these services to 

be provided by councils as part of the Comprehensive Spending 

Review.  

Recommendation 2 

The Mayor should lobby Government to provide adequate funding 

to realise the changes in advice assistance and support that the 

introduction of Universal Credit was intended to bring through the 

Job Centre Plus service and work with DWP and London Councils to 

establish the financial support and training needed for the services 

provided through Job Centre Plus to be improved.  

Recommendation 3 

The Mayor should lobby Government to review recent changes to 

legal aid to ensure that people in need of temporary 

accommodation have access to justice and are able to challenge 

unsuitable placements. 

Innovative temporary accommodation projects 

We welcome the Mayor’s £11 million Innovation Fund support for 

PLACE, pan-London modular temporary accommodation built on 

meanwhile sites which borough councils can buy into. We also welcome 

MHCLG’s provision of £38 million of funding over three years to 

establish the pan-London Capital Letters project to procure temporary 

accommodation.  

P
age 76



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 33  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

The Mayor’s focus is on building new homes to provide a long-term 

solution to the housing crisis. We take the view that inadequate 

attention has been paid to the large numbers of households languishing 

in insecure and often inadequate as well as expensive temporary 

accommodation indefinitely, at enormous cost to their own welfare and 

to the public purse.  

Projects like Capital Letters can provide sources of good quality 

temporary accommodation when local authorities need it. This project 

aims to keep the costs to a reasonable level through buying in property 

centrally so as to avoid competition between boroughs, pushing prices 

up. It is a surprise that this project was not created earlier and we 

support its development and expansion. Similarly, PLACE, and the first 

example at PLACE Ladywell, provide innovative use of meanwhile space 

and much-needed temporary accommodation which can be procured 

centrally, allowing borough councils to buy into rented temporary 

accommodation when needed. The current plans for these projects will 

only provide a tiny proportion of the good quality, affordable temporary 

accommodation needed. In our view, the Mayor should be doing more 

to seek out, support and help to develop such imaginative solutions to 

the crisis in temporary accommodation.  

We hope that the Mayor’s work on the ‘London Model’ blueprint for 

private rented sector tenancy reform will address the issues of those in 

temporary accommodation.34  

Recommendation 4 

The Mayor should set up a focussed, pan-London temporary 

accommodation workstream to seek out and support the wider 

development of temporary accommodation solutions such as the 

Capital Letters and PLACE projects already underway and to continue 

to fund such solutions.  

 

Cross-governmental working and data sharing 

We welcome attempts by MHCLG and DWP to collaborate more closely 

over the impact of housing and homelessness policies and benefits so 

that their policies and effects are not contradictory. We ask that DWP 

establishes appropriate data sharing arrangements with borough 

councils to enable the councils to design and target their services 

appropriately.  

We heard of efforts by borough councils to use data effectively to 

identify families at risk before a crisis develops. In order to do this work, 

effective data-sharing agreements are needed between the DWP and 

councils so that the homelessness team can identify those residents 

who are claiming Universal Credit or housing benefit and when crunch 

times are likely to occur.  

P
age 77



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 34  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Officials from the DWP told us about their efforts to work together with 

MHCLG to develop and monitor the effects of their welfare and housing 

policies so as to reduce homelessness and mitigate the impact of 

welfare reform on homelessness. The Government has taken steps to 

mitigate the impact of the introduction of Universal Credit on housing 

security, for example by reducing delays in receiving the first payment 

following a fresh claim for Universal Credit and improving the processes 

for requesting rent to be paid directly to a landlord.35  

 

However, the evidence we read and witnessed led us to conclude that 

different parts of Government could improve their joined up working to 

ensure that the housing and homelessness policies of MHCLG are not 

being undermined by the housing elements of the benefits system.36 

  

Recommendation 5 

MHCLG and DWP should work more closely together to ensure that 

policies to reduce homelessness and improve housing security are not 

undermined by the implementation of welfare reforms, and the Mayor 

should lobby for this.  

 

Recommendation 6 

MHCLG and DWP should ensure that full data sharing agreements are 

set up in order to facilitate the work of councils in implementing their 

prevention and relief duties under the Homelessness Reduction Act 

2017, and the Mayor should lobby for this.  

 

Hearing the voices of people in temporary accommodation 
 

In our 2018 investigation, Hearing Resident Voices, and in this 

investigation, we heard that many people seeking help from their 

councils and social housing providers did not feel that their concerns 

were heard and responded to. For those in temporary accommodation, 

they were often afraid to challenge poor quality housing because of a 

fear of their vulnerability in insecure housing.37  

 

In addition to good quality advice, support and guidance services, 

borough councils and other housing providers need to develop open 

and accessible forums and feedback mechanisms for people living in 

temporary accommodation to contribute to discussions on what is 

needed and how to make temporary accommodation meet their needs.  

 

Justlife, a charity working with people and organisations in unsupported 

temporary accommodation, has established ‘temporary accommodation 

P
age 78

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/hearing-resident-voices-social-housing


May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 35  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

boards’, bringing together all of the main stakeholders in a local 

authority to air issues and develop solutions collaboratively. Following 

successful projects in Manchester and Brighton, Justlife and Trust for 

London conducted a case study in Hackney to test whether this 

approach could work in London. The strength of the successful projects 

elsewhere in England lay in collaboration on an equal footing, so that 

the voices of residents in temporary accommodation could be heard 

and they participated in planning strategies to improve temporary 

accommodation in the area. Subsequently, they saw reductions in 

evictions from temporary accommodation and in complaints. 

 

 

Justlife’s approach is to develop a common understanding of the 

problems, strong cross-sector relationships and collectively identify and 

develop solutions. In Hackney issues included, for example, a lack of 

communication between the local authority, voluntary support services 

and residents, and between temporary accommodation managers and 

voluntary support services. Residents wanted specific changes, for 

example an end to upfront costs, such as key deposits, and also more 

support in communicating the homelessness application process and 

other support services available.  

 

It may be that temporary accommodation boards are not the only or 

most effective means of ensuring that residents’ voices are heard, but 

we think that a mechanism should be created which enables people 

who have experience of temporary accommodation to be involved in its 

design and improvement.  

 

Recommendation 7 

The Mayor’s temporary accommodation workstream should 

investigate the best methods for involving people with experience of 

temporary accommodation in their design and management processes 

in order to ensure that their voices are heard.  

 

 

“Temporary Accommodation Boards (TABs) bring together residents, 

landlords, local housing authorities, public services and the homeless 

sector on an equal footing in order to maintain and monitor 

information about local bed spaces. They aim to make these separate 

groups communicate better, and to inform referrals and signposting 

towards appropriate accommodation. Boards facilitate a common 

understanding of the problems in local areas, the collective 

development of solutions, and a culture of trust between typically 

disparate stakeholders.”  

Justlife, Are Temporary Accommodation Boards Feasible? (June 

2018)38 

P
age 79



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 36  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

Appendix 1 – our approach 
 

In addition to desk research, the committee held the following meetings 
and round table discussions:  
 
Roundtable meeting with housing lawyers - 14 November 2018. The 
Law Centres Network brought together London law centres to talk to 
the committee. These solicitors run the duty housing schemes at 

London’s county courts and see people at the point at which they are 
becoming homeless. They described and provided examples of the 
changing patterns of homelessness cases they are seeing across the city 
and the differing practices in various London boroughs. Representatives 
attended from community law centres in: Hammersmith and Fulham, 
Camden, Brent, Southwark, Ealing, Hackney, and Harrow, and from the 
Law Centres Federation.  
 

Temporary accommodation focus group - 4 December 2018. The 
committee heard from people who are currently living in or have 
recently been in temporary accommodation in order to gain a better 
understanding of the experience of becoming homeless, the events that 
led up to that and the experience of living in temporary 
accommodation. In addition, the committee read case studies from 
other families living in temporary accommodation who could not attend 
on the day. A Crisis Housing Team Leader provided a professional 

overview.  

 

Housing Committee Q&A - 22 January 2019 with the GLA, borough 
councils, DWP, a housing association, landlords and developers of new 
temporary accommodation provision. The committee heard from the 
following guests, after watching a video interview with Sarah, a young 
mother living in temporary accommodation in East London:  
 
Panel A:  
Natalie Williamson, Senior Policy Officer, Residential Landlords 

Association 
Lee Georgiou, Housing Needs Manager, London Borough of Lewisham  
Julia Pitt, Director of Gateway Services, London Borough of Croydon   
Matt Campion, Chief Executive, Shepherd’s Bush Housing Group, and 
Member of Homes for Cathy 
 
Panel B:  
Deborah Halling, Senior Policy Officer for Homelessness, Housing and 

Land, Greater London Authority 
Richard d’Souza, Head of Universal Credit Engagement Division, 
Department for Work and Pensions 
Sidonie Edey, Homelessness Policy Lead, Department for Work and 
Pensions 
Mark Baigent, Director of Place Limited, Interim Divisional Director, 
Housing and Regeneration, London Borough of Tower Hamlets, and 

Director of Place Limited and Capital Letters  
 

P
age 80



May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 37  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

During the investigation, members of the team also heard from:  

GLA peer outreach team – 30 November 2018. Members of this group 
of young people aged 15-25 talked about their experiences of 
homelessness, temporary accommodation and welfare benefits. One 
young person provided a more detailed case study on her current 
situation in temporary accommodation.  
 
Justlife Temporary Accommodation Board – Hackney, 13 July and 26 
November 2018. Following on from successful projects in Manchester 

and Brighton, homelessness charity Justlife set up a trial temporary 
accommodation board in Hackney. These ‘boards’ pull together the 
relevant stakeholders: council representatives, residents, landlords, 
voluntary services, health, police, fire serves and any others — to arrive 
at collective solutions to problems in temporary accommodation 
through collaboration on an equal footing. Borough councils, including: 
Southwark, Westminster, Hackney, Tower Hamlets, Lewisham, Croydon, 
Camden and Redbridge.  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Contact 

For media enquiries about this report, please contact: 
Funmi Olutoye, External Communications Officer 
funmi.olutoye@london.gov.uk 020 7084 2713  
 
For inquiries about this report or the Housing Committee, please 
contact: 
Sarah Young, Scrutiny Manager 

sarah.young@london.gov.uk 020 7087 2606 
Lorraine Ford, Senior Policy Adviser  
Lorraine.ford@london.gov.uk 020 7983 4394 
  

P
age 81

mailto:sarah.young@london.gov.uk
mailto:Lorraine.ford@london.gov.uk


May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 38  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

 
References 

1 The primary homelessness duties are provided under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996. 
For guidance, see MHCLG, Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities (latest 
update, 15 April 2019), chapter 6. See also, Shelter, What is homelessness?   
2 This decision is made under section 188 of the Housing Act 1996.  
3 The council will then accommodate an applicant under the main homelessness duty: 
section193(2) of the Housing Act 1996. 
4 For guidance on the law, see Nzolameso v City of Westminster [2015] UKSC 22 ; 
MHCLG, Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities (February 2018), last 
updated 15 April 2019, chapter 17. 
5 MHCLG, Live tables on homelessness.  
6 Data collected by Inside Housing: Nathaniel Barker, The cost of homelessness: council 
spend on temporary accommodation revealed, Inside Housing, 31 August 2018.   
7 Nathaniel Barker, The cost of homelessness: council spend on temporary 
accommodation revealed, Inside Housing, 31 August 2018.   
8 For ongoing data on homelessness and its causes, see Crisis, The Homelessness 
Monitor: England 2018 and previous editions.  For a review of the increasing demand 
for temporary accommodation in London, including an analysis of the causes of 
homelessness, see Julie Rugg, Temporary Accommodation in London: Local Authorities 
Under Pressure, University of York and London Councils (February 2016). NB. This 
report was written before the implementation of Universal Credit and the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.  
9 London Assembly press release, Stop landlords evicting tenants without reason, 5 July 
2018 
10 MHCLG, Government announces end to unfair evictions, 15 April 2019..  
11 Helen Cobain, Job Centre Plus. Accessed via Flickr on 09 May 2019. Licence available 
at: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/legalcode  

 

12 Valuation Office Agency, Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates applicable from April 
2019 to March 2020 (31 January 2019).   
13 Our focus group members became homeless for a variety of reasons, but housing 
officers from councils and law centre solicitors all reported rent arrears as a common 
catalyst for homelessness, with benefit difficulties often lurking behind those arrears. 
See, for example, the transcript of evidence of Panel A at the Housing Committee 
meeting of 22 January 2019.  
14 Chris O’Leary, Homelessness and the Private Rented Sector, Residential Landlords 
Association (November 2018), p 28, fig.7.  
15 MHCLG, Local Authority Housing Data.  
16 MHCLG, English Housing Survey: Private rented sector 2016-17 (July 2018) 
17 MHCLG, English Housing Survey: Private rented sector 2016-17 (July 2018) p 18 and 
annex table 2.10.  
18 MHCLG, English Housing Survey: Private Rented Sector 2016-17 (July 2018) p. 18 and 
annex table 2.10 
19 MHCLG, Local Authority Housing Statistics – year ending March 2018.  
20 Sarah Dobie et al, Turned Away: The treatment of single homeless people by local 
authority homelessness services in England, (2014) Crisis.  
21 Anonymous, I work in a council homeless unit, where not helping people is seen as a 
good job, The Guardian, 11 June 2016.  
22 London Assembly Housing Committee, Hidden Homelessness in London (September 
2017). 
23 MHCLG, Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities (February 2018), last 
updated 15 April 2019; Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, s 2.   
24 Department for Work and Pensions press release, Citizens Advice to provide support 
to Universal Credit claimants, 1 October 2018.  

                                                      

P
age 82

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-6-homeless-or-threatened-with-homelessness
https://england.shelter.org.uk/housing_advice/homelessness/rules/what_is_homelessness
https://www.supremecourt.uk/decided-cases/docs/UKSC_2014_0275_Judgment.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-17-suitability-of-accommodation
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-homelessness
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/insight/insight/the-cost-of-homelessness-council-spend-on-temporary-accommodation-revealed-57720
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/insight/insight/the-cost-of-homelessness-council-spend-on-temporary-accommodation-revealed-57720
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/insight/insight/the-cost-of-homelessness-council-spend-on-temporary-accommodation-revealed-57720
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/insight/insight/the-cost-of-homelessness-council-spend-on-temporary-accommodation-revealed-57720
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238700/homelessness_monitor_england_2018.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238700/homelessness_monitor_england_2018.pdf
https://pure.york.ac.uk/portal/files/45343460/Temporary_Accommodation_in_London_report_FINAL_VERSION_FOR_PUBLICATION.pdf
https://pure.york.ac.uk/portal/files/45343460/Temporary_Accommodation_in_London_report_FINAL_VERSION_FOR_PUBLICATION.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/assembly/stop-landlords-evicting-tenants-without-reason
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-announces-end-to-unfair-evictions
https://www.flickr.com/photos/88097768@N02/8059834283/in/photolist-9bZBZX-7GacE7-6MEdtK-7DjPaA-eVnPtB-cbsQmq-q6ZrkJ-4nJqwW-c3fHcL-dFGZrL-auRQce-7PEEbC-p6B8c5-8whrV8-cm3taw-9ti9dn-9VjtSB-7G6Bzg-e2X9yb-9pqyeb-8BpuSC-dhdKW4-feymx6-bWQ7ca-9nYwPo-bGrxfe-5UB9go-9ua6U3-aDytuH-8gR9uo-6w4aa3-dJZgwq-6qnYXd-HXugxd-nYcsAr-8vzS6B-B1Pnv-6VJjZW-4UCCYF-bUMT7H-9q93e8-252cm6C-8ux4qm-374c8D-B8DpdR-cTrp6L-EAcbz-6m33z5-8qRDw4-bWjFwN
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/legalcode
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-housing-allowance-lha-rates-applicable-from-april-2019-to-march-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-housing-allowance-lha-rates-applicable-from-april-2019-to-march-2020
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=302&MId=6763&Ver=4
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=302&MId=6763&Ver=4
https://research.rla.org.uk/report/homelessness-and-the-private-rented-sector/
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-authority-housing-data
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/723880/Private_rented_sector_report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/723880/Private_rented_sector_report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/773079/Local_Authority_Housing_Statistics_England_year_ending_March_2018.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/20496/turned_away2014.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/20496/turned_away2014.pdf
https://www.google.co.uk/amp/s/amp.theguardian.com/housing-network/2016/jun/11/council-homeless-unit-social-housing-assessment
https://www.google.co.uk/amp/s/amp.theguardian.com/housing-network/2016/jun/11/council-homeless-unit-social-housing-assessment
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_assembly_-_hidden_homelessness_report.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/citizens-advice-to-provide-support-to-universal-credit-claimants
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/citizens-advice-to-provide-support-to-universal-credit-claimants


May 2019 

 

 
London Assembly Housing Committee I 39  

Housing Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Living in Limbo: London’s temporary accommodation crisis  

                                                                                                                                  
25 Evidence of Vincent Lawal, Housing Solutions Manager, LB Southwark, Transcript of 
Housing Committee meeting on Hidden Homelessness, 27 June 2017.  
26 Ministry of Justice, Civil Legal Aid Statistics Quarterly: October to December 2018 (28 
March 2019). For a summary of changes and developments since LASPO 2012, see 
House of Commons Library Debate Pack: The future of legal aid (31 October 2018).  
27 For example, Hackney Council’s cabinet voted in March 2019 to cut the Community 
Law Centre’s budget from £203,000 to £115,000 for the coming year, a 45 per cent 
reduction in council funding.  
28 Ministry of Justice, Post-Implementation Review of Part 2 of LASPO 2012, 7 February 
2019.  
29 Housing Act 1996, s 206.  
30 Nzolameso v City of Westminster [2015] UKSC 22 ; MHCLG, Homelessness Code of 
Guidance for Local Authorities (February 2018), last updated 15 April 2019, chapter 17.  
31 MHCLG Live Tables on Homelessness: Temporary Accommodation tables.  
32 See Mayor of London Director’s decisions DD 2175 (12 October 2017) and DD 2346 
(17 April 2019),  

33 Louisa Clarence-Smith, Insurer invests in Housing for the Homeless , The Times, 17 
April 2019.  
34 Mayor of London, Response to Longer Tenancies Consultation, 18 September 2018. 
See Annex 2 for early draft ‘London Model’ proposals.  
35 For a summary of recent changes to the Universal Credit roll-out and legacy benefits, 
see https://revenuebenefits.org.uk/. A list of recent changes is available at:  
https://revenuebenefits.org.uk/universal-credit/policy/policy-changes/ . Citizens 
Advice provides online and personalised support to claimants, running the ‘Universal 
Support’ service on behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions.  
36 For a recent article on these issues, see Jules Birch, Housing policy’s left hand does 
not know what the right is doing, Inside Housing, 5 March 2019. 
37 London Assembly Housing Committee, Hearing Resident Voices in Social Housing  
(November 2018).  
38 Rachel Yates and Christa Mackiver, Are Temporary Accommodation Boards Feasible: 
A Hackney Case Study, Justlife and Trust for London (June 2018).  

P
age 83

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b15918/Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20-%20Tackling%20Hidden%20Homelessness%20Tuesday%2027-Jun-2017%2015.30%20Housing%20Committ.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b15918/Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20-%20Tackling%20Hidden%20Homelessness%20Tuesday%2027-Jun-2017%2015.30%20Housing%20Committ.pdf?T=9
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/legal-aid-statistics-quarterly-october-to-december-2018
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CDP-2018-0230#fullreport
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/post-implementation-review-of-part-2-of-laspo
https://www.supremecourt.uk/decided-cases/docs/UKSC_2014_0275_Judgment.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-17-suitability-of-accommodation
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities/chapter-17-suitability-of-accommodation
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-homelessness
https://www.london.gov.uk/decisions/dd2175-real-lettings-property-fund
https://www.london.gov.uk/decisions/dd2346-mayors-move-programme-and-real-lettings-property-fund-2
https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/insurer-invests-in-housing-for-homeless-5lv2bvmcl
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing-and-land/housing-and-land-publications/response-longer-tenancies-consultation
https://revenuebenefits.org.uk/
https://revenuebenefits.org.uk/universal-credit/policy/policy-changes/
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/benefits/
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/benefits/
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/comment/comment/housing-policys-left-hand-does-not-know-what-the-right-is-doing-60462
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/comment/comment/housing-policys-left-hand-does-not-know-what-the-right-is-doing-60462
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/hearing-resident-voices-social-housing
file://///homedata/home$/syoung/Downloads/Justlife_TAB_Report_Final%20(2).pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 84



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Affordable Housing Delivery Update 
Report to: Housing Committee 
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 13 June 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 

 
 

1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report sets out the background information for a discussion with invited guests on affordable 

housing delivery in London. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee agrees the areas for consideration set out in paragraph 4.6 of the 

report. 

 

2.2 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to the invited 

guests on affordable housing delivery in London and the subsequent discussion. 

 

2.3 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output from the discussion. 

 

 

3. Background 
 
3.1 London needs at least 66,000 new homes per year to meet growing housing demand.  Of these, 

around two thirds (some 43,000 homes) need to be affordable, either for intermediate or low-cost 

rent.1 

 

3.2 The Greater London Authority (GLA) publishes monthly and yearly data on affordable housing 

delivery in London.  This data is supplemented by annual data published by the Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) and the Homes and Communities Agency. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1 The 2017 London Strategic Housing Market Assessment, GLA, Nov 2017 
(https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_shma_2017.pdf) 

Page 85

Agenda Item 7

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_shma_2017.pdf


        

4. Issues for Consideration 
 
 Affordable delivery 

4.1 The Mayor has received £4.82bn from MHCLG to deliver 116,000 starts on affordable homes by 

2022.  The Mayor also has a range of other funding streams and tools, including strategic 

partnerships and Housing Zones, which can help with the delivery of more housing in London. 

 

4.2 In 2018/19, 14,544 affordable homes were started, with Mayoral funding – surpassing the year’s 

minimum target of 14,000. London is still far from delivering enough affordable homes to meet 

need, although this year has seen the most affordable housing starts since 2010-11. 

 

 Affordability of homes delivered 

4.3 In the draft London Plan, the Mayor follows the Government definition of ‘affordable’ housing 

(which includes a requirement for rent or sale value not to exceed 80% of market rate).  However, 

he also sets out his three preferred ‘affordable’ tenures (London Affordable Rent, London Living 

Rent and London Shared Ownership – the latter two of which are intermediate tenure), while noting 

that other affordable housing products may be acceptable to him. 

 

 4.4 Of the affordable home starts made thus far in this Mayoralty, 55% of them have been for 

intermediate tenure homes, and a fifth (20%) at social rent levels. With the £1bn allocated to the 

Building Council Homes for Londoners programme, it is probable that the share of affordable starts 

at social rent levels may increase.  

  

Wider housing market 

4.5 Economic uncertainties, including nervousness around how and when we may exit the European 

Union, are reflected in low transaction volumes in the wider second-hand housing market (which 

tends also to influence the market for new build).  Latest trend data further indicates a cooling 

London market, as well as a falling trend in the planning pipeline.2  This may be particularly 

worrying, since London’s affordable market currently also relies quite heavily on cross-subsidy from 

open market sales. 

 
4.6 The Committee may therefore wish to consider: 

 The number of affordable starts and completions being delivered; 

 The affordability and tenure of the homes the Mayor is part-funding; and 

 An update on the wider housing market.  

 

4.7 The following guests have been invited to attend the meeting and participate in the discussion: 

 James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development, GLA, and 

 David Lunts, Executive Director, Housing and Land, GLA.  

 

 

 

                                                 
2
 See, for example, The London Intelligence, Issue 4, Centre for London, 9 May 2018 

(http://www.centreforlondon.org/reader/the-london-intelligence-issue-4/infrastructure-and-housing/#tube-and-bus-journeys) 

Page 86

http://www.centreforlondon.org/reader/the-london-intelligence-issue-4/infrastructure-and-housing/#tube-and-bus-journeys


        

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

None. 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 

Contact Officer: Lorraine Ford, Senior Policy Adviser 

Telephone: 020 7983 4394 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 87

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 88



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Housing Committee Work Programme 
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 13 June 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report sets out the work programme for the Housing Committee for the beginning of the 

2019/20 Assembly year. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee is recommended to note the Housing Committee Work Programme.  

 

 

3. Background 
 
3.1 Meeting slots for the Housing Committee for the 2019/20 Assembly year were agreed at the Annual 

Meeting of the Assembly on 2 May 2019.  The Committee may choose to use the meeting slots for 

formal meetings, site visits, informal meetings or other engagement activities.  

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

 Work programme for 2019/20 

4.1 The table in paragraph 4.2 overleaf sets out the allocated dates for the Housing Committee in 

2019/20.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



        

4.2 

Meeting Date Topic 

2 July 2019 To be confirmed 

3 September 2019 To be confirmed 

3 October 2019 To be confirmed 

20 November 2019 To be confirmed 

18 December 2019 To be confirmed 

21 January 2020 To be confirmed 

11 February 2020 To be confirmed 

3 March 2020 To be confirmed 

 

 

 Affordable Housing Delivery Update 

4.4 The Committee will use this meeting to review the Affordable Housing Delivery Update with the 

Deputy Mayor for Housing and Residential Development. 

 

 Work Programme for the Remainder of the Assembly Year 

4.5 Other topics for investigation will be added to the work programme during the year.  

 

4.6 As in previous years, the Committee may wish to use some of its meeting slots to undertake site 

visits, hold roundtables and receive briefings to support its scrutiny work. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 

6. Financial Implications 

 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



        

  

List of appendices to this report: None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  Lorraine Ford, Senior Policy Adviser 

Telephone:  020 7983 4394 

E-mail:  scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 91

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 92


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	4 Minutes
	Draft Minutes - Appendix 1 - Help to Buy FINAL

	5 Summary List of Actions
	04 - 2019-05-23 Sian Berry re Fast Track planning

	6 Action Taken under Delegated Authority
	temporary_accommodation_report_-_living_in_limbo_-_final

	7 Affordable Housing Delivery Update
	8 Housing Committee Work Programme

